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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008
Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
DELAWARE 98-0181725
(State or other jurisdiction of (ILR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
Innospec Manufacturing Park
Oil Sites Road
Ellesmere Port
Cheshire
United Kingdom CH65 4EY
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code : 011-44-151-355-3611
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which registered
N/A N/A

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Act: Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes

No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes

No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes X

No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will
not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [1]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b
— 2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fil

Accelerated file X

Non-accelerated file

Smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).



No X

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most
recently completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2008) was approximately $234 million, based on the closing price of the
common shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market on June 30, 2008. Shares of common stock held by each officer and director and
by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may
be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other
purpose.

As of February 13, 2009, 23,598,116 shares of the registrant’'s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Innospec Inc.’s Proxy Statement forAlneual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on MagQ09 are incorporated by reference
into Part Ill of this Form 1-K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statemémtgthin the meaning of the Private Securities ¢éttion Reform
Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements includestditements which address operating performaneateor
developments that we expect or anticipate will ayraccur in the future, including, without limitati, all of the
Company’s guidance for sales, gross margins, enie, growth potential and other measures of filghnc
performance. Although forward-looking statementsiaglieved by management to be reasonable when, iweaatéon
should be exercised not to place undue reliancioh statements because they are subject to castesn
uncertainties and assumptions. If the risks or taodgies ever materialize or the assumptions progerrect, actual
results may differ materially from those expresseanplied by such forward-looking statements assuanptions.
Risks, assumptions and uncertainties include, withmitation, changes in the terms of trading wsthnificant
customers or the gain or loss thereof, changeseicdsts and availability of energy, raw materialg] other inputs,
our ability to continue to achieve organic growttour Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals busiegsour ability t
successfully integrate any acquisitions in our @mtane Additives businesses, the effects of chgngivernment
regulations and economic and market conditions, patition and changes in demand and business aabrisks
inherent in the Company’s activities, includingipoal and economic uncertainty, import and exponitations and
market risks related to changes in interest ratdS@reign exchange rates, government investigstiomaterial fines ¢
other penalties resulting from the Company’s vaupdisclosure to the Office of Foreign Assets @alndf the U.S.
Department of the Treasury and the Securities ati&dhge Commission (“SEC”), U.S. Department ofidasand
United Kingdom Serious Fraud Office investigatiom® the Company’s involvement in the United Nasddil for
Food Program, or other regulatory actions and aibks, uncertainties and assumptions identifiethex"Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmem31, 2008 and other reports filed with the SH
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly updateevise any forward-looking statements, whettsea result of
new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART |
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation,” “CompafiRégistrant,” “we,” “us” and “our,” unless otherse indicated
or the context otherwise requires, we are referaniginospec Inc. and its consolidated subsidigtiesnospec”).

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtledtadditives and other specialty chemicals. Qroducts are
sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemiaald industrial companies throughout the world. fDet additives
help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfono@and reduce harmful emissions. Our specialtynatas provide
effective technology-based solutions for our cugisiprocesses or products focused in the Personal Bateseholc
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredeemarkets.

Our principal executive offices are in EllesmeretPdnited Kingdom. We became an independent compan
May 22, 1998, when we were spun off from our tharept corporation Chemtura Corporation, previokslgwn as
Great Lakes Chemical Corporation. We changed oorerfaom Octel Corp. to Innospec Inc. on January2B06. On
March 21, 2006 we transferred the listing of oumawon stock from the New York Stock Exchange (“NY $i'the
Nasdag Stock Marke“NASDAQ").

Segmental Information

Innospec divides its business into three distieghgents for both management and reporting purpéses:
Specialties, Active Chemicals and Octane Additividee Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals busembsth
operate in markets where we actively seek growgodpnities albeit their end customers are veried#int. The
Octane Additives business, although still profiegl$ characterized by substantial declining demand

On June 23, 2008 the Company announced a furtteamslining of its business into a unified, sale$-déobal
business focused on rapidly meeting customezsds anywhere in the world. The Company is motoran integrate
regional model running its growth businesses asstreamlined business operating across three gauged regions —
Americas, EMEA (i.e. Europe, Middle East and Afjicand ASPAC (i.e. Asia-Pacific). The Company waport its
financial performance based on the segments cadauithin this integrated regional model when thlee€Operating
Decision Maker reviews the Company'’s operating ltsgurimarily on this basis.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthlends and markets a range of specialty chemiroducts used
as additives to a wide range of fuels. The busispssializes in supplying fuel additives that hefprove fuel
efficiency, boost engine performance and



Table of Contents

reduce harmful emissions. The busingssducts are used in the efficient operation obautive, marine and aviatis
engines, power station generators, and heatingli@sé| particulate filter systems.

Historically, through to the end of 2004, the bess had grown through a program of acquisitiongs plogram has
included the establishment in 1999 of a 50% owpét yenture with Starreon LLC to sell fuel addésvin the U.S.
and the subsequent acquisition of the remaining &60&at joint venture in July 2004. Innospec Fapécialties LLC
(previously known as Octel Starreon LLC) operatetha regional hub of the Fuel Specialties Amerimasness.

More recently growth in the Fuel Specialties busgleas been driven by new product developmentdeeas what w
believe are the key drivers in demand for fuel adels. These key drivers are legislation, poputattfluence, and
energy price and availability. We have devoted wrigl resources to the development of new andarend product
that may be used to improve fuel efficiency. Acaoglly in our Fuel Specialties segment 40% of olesa 2008
were derived from products developed during theiptes five years.

Active Chemicals

Our Active Chemicals business provides effectivht®logy-based solutions for our customers’ praeess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indudriaktitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients markets

Historically the business has grown through a mogof acquisitions. This program has included ttoussition of
Finetex, Inc. in January 2005, Innospec Widnes tach{previously known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Léaijtin
August 2004 and Innospec Leuna GmbH in June 200Becember 2005, the Company disposed of two noa-co
businesses, Octel Performance Chemicals Inc. anG#mlen Industries SA waste water treatment bssirteffective
January 1, 2007 the businesses of Finetex, IncPam@hem Chemicals, Inc. were merged into Innogmtive
Chemicals LLC (previously known as Innospec Perforoe Chemicals U.S. Co.).

The focus for our Active Chemicals business iseéwaliop high performance products from its technplogse in a
focused number of markets.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives business is the world’s omlyduicer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL"Y.he Octane Additives busine
comprises sales of TEL for use in automotive gasadind trading in respect of our environmental diat@®n
business.

TEL was first developed in 1928 and introduced ihi® European market for internal combustion ergytoeéboost
octane levels in gasoline allowing it to burn meficiently and eliminating engine knock. It alsttsas a lubricity ai
reducing engine wear and preventing valve seasseme. Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1f@Hl8wing
the enactment
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of the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1970 and similar ldgigon in other countries. The trend of countriggieg the leaded
gasoline market has resulted in a general ratedfre in volume terms in the last few years ofdsstn 10% and
25% per annum. Sales of the Octane Additives basiaee now concentrated in a relatively small nurobe
customers. Accordingly, volume decline experienceghny one financial period may be greater or thas this
general rate of decline and remaining sales inldthg8ness may decline with unpredictable volatdind severity.

We intend to manage the decrease in the saleslofdriise in automotive gasoline to maximize thehciow
through the decline. Continuous cost improvemerdsuees have been, and will continue to be, takeesioond to
declining market demand.

Our environmental remediation business assist®Eess to manage the clean up of the associateddadtiplants as
refineries complete the move from leaded fuel.

Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved teagiek to continue to strengthen and increase otkanhpositions
within our Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicalsibasses. In addition to the combined organic neeegmowth of
58%, and operating income growth of 176%, in tHess#nesses since 2005, we also actively continasgess
potential acquisitions that would enhance our austooffering. We focus on acquisitions that woutteed our
technology base, geographical coverage or prodartiiofio. We believe that focusing on the Fuel Spkies and
Active Chemicals sectors in which our businessesaip provides the opportunity for positive retusnanvestment
while lowering operating risk by investing in markevhere the Company has experience, expertis&raowledge.

Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicaimmanufacturing and blending processes and lgetlea’ sources
of these are adequate for our current operationsn@jor purchases are ethylene, sodium, leadneetamber
improvers, ethyl chloride, various solvents andahhoethane.

These purchases account for a substantial portidtedCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readiilable from more than one source. We use long-t®ntracts
(generally with fixed prices and escalation tertos)elp ensure availability, continuity of supplydamanage the risk
of price increases. For some raw materials theafigkice increases is managed with commodity swaps

The chemical industry, in general, is experiengome tightness in the supply of certain commodityemals. We
continue to monitor the situation and adjust owcprement strategies as we deem appropriate.

5



Table of Contents

I ntellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgpés and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strengths particularly in the Fuel Sakies and Active Chemicals businesses. The Cogngdaas not
however consider its business as a whole to bendiepé¢ on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and pstgnanted and in the application stage, covgrnogucts and
processes in several jurisdictions. The majorittheke patents were developed by the Company abjcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néveal fees, have at least ten years’ life remaining

The trademark Innospec and the Innospec devicéass€s 1, 2 and 4 of thinternational Classification of Goods &
Services for the Purposes of the Registration afksfaare registered in all countries or jurisdican which the
Company has a significant market presence. The @oynglso has trademark registrations in all coestor
jurisdictions in which it has a significant markgesence for the following: Stac® (a range of conductivity

improvers), Ortholeurfi (a range of lubricant additives), Valvemastéa range of anti valve seat recession additives)
Legal DieseP (a range of diesel fuel additives), Sataé¢a range of iron-based organo-metallic fuel boratalgsts),
Enviomet® (a range of biodegradable chelating agents) argbkifi (a range of benzoate esters for personal care ant
cosmetic products).

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgend product developments by filing patent apibns or
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohppsarticipate in patent opposition proceedingsiatbthe world,
where necessary, to secure a technology baseffreingement.

Customers

Fuel SpecialtiesOur customers are multinational oil companies amad fetailers. Traditionally, a large portion oéth
total market was captive to oil companies that fuadl additives divisions providing supplies dirgdib their respectiv
refinery customers. Many refineries are increagithgbking to purchase their fuel additive requirertseon the open
market. This trend is creating new opportunitigsiidependent additive marketers such as ourselves.

Active ChemicalsCustomers range from large multinational compaares manufacturers of personal care and
household products, to specialty chemical manufaciwoperating in niche industries.

Octane AdditivesSales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areenathcipally to the retail refinery market which
comprises independent, state or major oil compavryed refineries located throughout the world. 8gllrices to
major customers are usually negotiated under leng-supply agreements with varying prices and terhpgyment.
Our environmental remediation business then se¢hese customers to manage the clean up of theiaksibc
redundant plants as refineries complete the mara feaded fuel.

6
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In 2008 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $84.6 milki (13%) of net group sales. In 2007, Shell acaslifdr 11% of net
group sales, and in 2006 no single customer acedudot more than 10% of net group sales.

Competition

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is fragmented and ckeniaed by a small number of competitors in
each submarket. The competitors in each submaifket @ith no one company holding a dominant pasitiWe
consider our competitive strengths to be our praeehnical development capacity, independence frajor oil
companies and strong long-term relationships vatimery customers.

Active ChemicalsWe operate in a number of active chemical marksgtas. Accordingly, there are a plethora of
competitors who also operate in some, but nobathese markets.

Octane AdditivesOur Octane Additives business is the world’s onlyducer of TEL and accordingly is the only
supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. Tusiness therefore competes with marketers ofymtsdand
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmitane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development and Testing

Research, development and testing (“R&D”) provide basis for the growth of our Fuel Specialties Aative
Chemicals businesses. Accordingly, the Company'®R&tivity has been, and will continue to be, famisn the
development of new products and formulations. Teaisupport is provided for all of our businesgreents
including Octane Additives.

Our principal research and development facilitieslacated in Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom. Exgenres to
support research, product/application developmedttechnical support services to customers were8&hdlion,
$13.6 million, and $11.1 million in 2008, 2007, a2@D6, respectively.

We consider that our proven technical capabilityvydes us with a significant competitive advantdgehe last three
years, the Fuel Specialties business has develmpedietergent, cold flow, stabilizers, anti-foulgrtbricity and
combustion improver products, in addition to thiedduction of several new cost effective fuel addippackages.

Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

We are subject to environmental laws in all of ¢tbantries in which we conduct business. The pralagmvironmentz
laws to which the Company is subject to in the &ohiKingdom are the Environmental Protection Act@, 3Be Water
Resources Act 1991, the Health and Safety at WatklA74 and regulations and amendments theretoadsment
believes that the Company is in material compliamitke all applicable environmental laws and has enagpropriate
provision for the continued costs of compliancewahvironmental laws. Nevertheless, there can beseorance that
changes in existing environmental laws, or the



Table of Contents

discovery of additional liabilities associated withr current or former operations, will not haveaterial adverse
effect on our business, results of operationsrarifcial position.

The principal sites giving rise to environmentahesliation liabilities are the former Octane Addsvmanufacturing
sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and BiebhashreGermany, together with the Ellesmere Po# sitthe United
Kingdom, which is the last ongoing manufacturefBL. Remediation work is substantially complet®atmboeuf,
Doberitz and Biebesheim. At Ellesmere Port thewedsntinuing remediation program related to thosaufacturing
units that have been closed. We regularly reviemftiure costs of remediation and the current egérs reflected in
Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarsiatements

We record environmental liabilities relating to tleéirement of assets and environmental clean wgnvihey are
probable and costs can be estimated reasonablyirMadlves anticipating the program of work and @issociated
future costs, and so involves the exercise of juslgrby management.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in titeré that could result in additional compliancets@nd prever
or inhibit the development, distribution and sdl®ar products. The European Union (“EU”) has appbadditional
legislation known as the Registration, Evaluatiod Authorization of Chemical Substances Regulat{tREACH”)
which requires most of the Company’s products toeggstered with EU Authorities. Under this legigla the
Company has to demonstrate the continuing safeitg pfoducts. During this registration period @empany will
incur expense to test and register its products.Jbmpany estimates that the cost of complying REACH will be
approximately $10 million incurred over the nextelrs. While the Company expects that its produidtde
approved for registration after testing it is pbisthat certain products may not be registerdgeiftest data proves
unsatisfactory. In such an outcome some of the @oiyip products may be restricted or prohibitechim EU.

Employees
The Company has 783 employees as at December @3., 20
Available I nformation

We file with the Securities and Exchange Commis$i&fC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 19831,
amended (the “Exchange Act”) our annual report om10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curr@marts on
Form 8K, and any amendments to those reports, proxyrsttes and other documents. The public may readajpy
any materials that we file with the SEC at the SERXblic Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Wgtin, D.C.
20549, United States of America. The public may alstain information on the operation of the PuBl&ference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In aaldithe SEC maintains an Internet website at wegvgovthat
contains reports, proxy and information statemantsother information that registrants, includihng Company, file
electronically with the SEC.
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Our corporate website is www.innospecinc.cowle make available, free of charge, on or thraigghwebsite our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycpide after
electronically filing such material with, or furhigg it to, the SEC. In addition, Innospec’s CogierGovernance
Guidelines, Code of Ethics and Director Independestandards, and the written charters for the cotees of
Innospec’s Board of Directors are available on wWedsite under “Investor Relations — Corporate Guaece” and in
print upon request by writing to: Corporate Seasetlnospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, s Road,
Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, United Kingdom, CHE5 4EY.

None of the above available information forms éduthis filing on Form 1-K, unless specifically incorporated by
reference elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Iltem 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many factors that codterially adversely affect our future performanaoé cause our
actual results to differ materially from those exg@eced or implied by forwartboking statements made in this Ann
Report on Form 10-K. Investing in our securitiegaives risks and accordingly investors should cdhekvaluate
these risks including the factors discussed belefore deciding to invest in our securities. Exagpbtherwise
indicated, these factors may or may not occur aaa@¢awnnot predict the likelihood of any such factocurring. Other
risk factors may exist that we do not consider ificgmt based on information that is currently dafie. In addition,
new risks may emerge at any time, and we canndigiriose risks or estimate the extent to whidythnay affect
our future performance.

We may have to pay substantial fines and penaltiesif we are fined by the U.S. or U.K. governmentsin connection
with their investigations regarding the United Nations Oil for Food Program and other related matters.

As discussed in Item 3 within Part | Legal Procagdj the Company is the subject of investigatigngbk U.S. and
U.K. government authorities in connection with pai& violations under the United Nations Oil fooddl Program,
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other laws.

On the facts available to us it is not yet possiblorm any reasonable estimate of the potenisgatgement,
penalties and fine payments, either by referene@ertmge of possible outcomes or by referenceet¢other end of
such a range of outcomes. The amount of any disgeegts, penalties or fines that the Company cadd fvould
depend on a number of eventual factors which areumoently known to the Company, including findsnigy relevant
authorities regarding the amount, nature and sobpay improper payments, the amount of any pecymjain
involved, the Company’s ability to pay, and thedlewof co-operation provided to government authesitluring the
investigations.

Because of the uncertainties associated with tiveate outcome of these investigations and thesdosthe Company
of responding and participating in them, no asstgaran be given

9
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that the ultimate costs incurred and sanctionsrttagt be imposed will not have a material advergecebn the
Company’s results of operations, financial posi@mwl/or cash flows from operating activities.

Competition, market conditions or a general declinein global economic conditions may adversely affect our
operating results.

Certain product lines and markets in which the Canmyfs businesses operate are subject to signifa@anpetition.
The Company competes on the basis of a numbectfr&aincluding, but not limited to, product qualénd
properties, customer relationships and serviceyagdlatory and toxicological expertise. For somzdpcts the
competitors are larger than us and may have graatesss to financial, technological and other nesssu As a result
these competitors may be able to better withstagithage in conditions within the industries in whihe Company
operates, a change in the prices of raw materfaaschange in global economic conditions. Competitoay be able
introduce new products with enhanced featuresitfagt cause a decline in the demand and sales @fdhmany’s
products. Consolidation of customers or competitorgconomic problems of customers, in the maakeas in which
the Company operates may cause a loss of market &hvahe Company’s products, place downward pressn
prices, result in payment delays or nmyment and declining plant utilization rates. Axfiyhese risks could advers
impact our future revenues, gross margins, operaiargins and cash flows from operating activities.

We may be required to make additional cash contributions to the defined benefit pension plan that we operatein the
United Kingdom and recognize greater pension charges.

The Company’s principal pension arrangement isrdritiutory defined benefit pension plan (“the Plaodvering a
number of its current and former employees in thedd Kingdom though it does also have other muncaller
pension arrangements in the United Kingdom andseaes. The Plan is closed to new entrants withostde
discretion. The Projected Benefit Obligation (“PB@ based on final salary and years of creditedsereduced by
social security benefits according to a plan foemdlormal retirement age is 65 but provisions aagefor early
retirement. The Plag’assets are invested by two investment manageroemanies in funds holding United Kingd
and overseas equities, United Kingdom and oveifsezs interest securities, index linked securitiggperty unit
trusts and cash or cash equivalents.

The Plan predominantly covers Octane Additive elygs and given the significant decline in this bess we are
now left with a Plan whose population is 95% pensis and deferred pensioners and only 5% activelreemThe
total liability of the Plan is approximately 5 tisieur current market capitalization.

The Company is contributing amounts to the Placoicer service costs to date. Employee and employ@ributions
from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2007 were aaBda@22.6%, respectively, of pensionable pay. Franudry 1,
2007, employee and employer contributions werédaand 29%, respectively. In addition, since Mar6@?2, the
Company has been contributing £1.5 million permaée year in accordance with a 10 year deficitvegpplan.

10
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From January 1, 2008, employee and employer catiis remained at 7% and 29% though employee ibotittns
were paid by the employer through a salary saerdicangement. The estimated level of Company ibaritons into
the Plan for 2009 is $5.8 million.

A full tri-annual actuarial valuation of the Plamsvperformed as at December 31, 2005 and an upedtemed as at
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the results miware reflected in these consolidated finandetesnents. At
December 31, 2008 the underlying plan asset valdeP80 were $557.4 million and $571.2 million, resjvely,
resulting in a deficit of $13.8 million. A full trdnnual actuarial valuation of the Plan as at Ddmar31, 2008 will be
performed in 2009. The results of this valuatiofi e reflected in the consolidated financial sta¢ats as at
December 31, 2009.

The Plan is broadly in the top decile of fundecdhplan the United Kingdom. However, due to the résgmificant
adverse impact on global financial markets theeaiuPlan assets has declined. In addition, thefacised to
develop the discount rate assumption have fluatuiate@a manner which resulted in a significant iasein the
discount rate used at the end of 2008 from thad as¢he end of 2007. Similar future changes imRlsset values and
assumptions, including improving member mortalggumptions, will affect the actuarial valuation anal pension
calculations and may adversely impact future castributions required to be made by the Compargluding the 1(
year deficit recovery plan, and pension cost re@eghin the income statement. We currently do motdver intend t
modify the provisions of the Plan or investmenatggy for the Plan assets. The pension obligasidong-term in
nature as is the investment philosophy pursued.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ BE dependent on actual return on investmentpayndwards
as well as our assumptions in respect of the digo@te, annual member mortality rates, futurerretin assets, future
pay escalation, future pension increases and finflegion. We develop these assumptions after ickensg advice
from a major global actuarial consulting firm. Aattge in any one of these assumptions could impagtlan asset
value, PBO and pension cost recognized in the ircstiaement. Such changes could impact our opgnasults and
financial position. A 0.25% change in either thecdiunt rate assumption, or level of price inflatmsumption, would
change the PBO by approximately $19 million andrteepension charge for 2008 by approximately $dildon.

In addition, should future investment returns promgafficient to meet future obligations, or shofuture obligations
increase due to actuarial factors or changes isiperegislation, then the Company may be requinatake
additional cash contributions. This could have &emal impact on future operating income and céshg from
operating activities.

We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and state taxé®ibiS., as well as numerous foreign jurisdicti@ignificant
judgment is required in determining our worldwide\sion for income taxes. In the ordinary courfewr business
there are many transactions and calculations wtheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Weaneently under
tax audit by various jurisdictions’ tax authoritiddthough we believe our tax estimates are
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reasonable, the final determination of tax audits any related litigation could be materially dréfat than that which
is reflected in our financial statements. This dduhve a material effect on our net income, finaln@osition or cash
flows from operating activities.

We are exposed to fluctuationsin foreign exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of operations.

The Company generates an element of its revenuemanmrs some operating costs in currencies ottaar the U.S.
dollar. In addition, the financial position anduks of operations of some of our foreign subsidmare reported in t
relevant local currency and then translated to ddBars at the applicable currency exchange @téntlusion in our
consolidated financial statements. Changes in exggheates between these foreign currencies and.edollar will
affect the recorded levels of our assets and liegs) to the extent such figures reflect the is@u of foreign assets
and liabilities that are translated into U.S. dallBor presentation in our financial statementsyel as our results of
operations.

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro and
British pound sterling. The Company cannot acclygieedict the nature or extent of future exchargge variability.
While the Company takes steps to manage currenoysexe by entering into hedging transactions,damsot
eliminate all exposure to future exchange ratealslity. Exchange rates between these currenciéshenU.S. dollar
have fluctuated significantly in recent years aray/roontinue to do so in the future, which couldenatly impact our
results of operations and financial position.

Theinability of counterpartiesto meet their contractual obligations could have a substantial adverse impact on our
results of operations.

The Company sells a range of specialty chemicatsistomers around the world. Credit limits, ongainedit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd tsminimize bad debt risk. Collateral is notgratly required.
The Company uses derivatives, including interest savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydodvexchanc
contracts, in the normal course of business to ganaarket risks. The Company enters into derivatisgguments
with a diversified group of major financial instilons in order to monitor the exposure to non-penfance of such
instruments. The Company has in place a finananditlyy with a syndicate of banks.

The Company remains subject to market and cregdis including the ability of counterparties to migetir contractus
obligations and the potential non-performance ainterparties to deliver contracted commoditiesepvises at the
contracted price. Due to the recent disruptiorthéncredit and global financial markets the abiifycounterparties to
meet their contractual obligations may be redueetthis could have an adverse impact on futurénoeime and cash
flows from operating and financing activities.
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Our reliance on a small number of significant customers may have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate owned oil companies. The oil industry israbgerized by
concentration of a few large participants as alteguwwonsolidation. The loss of a significant arser or a material
reduction in purchases by a significant custometdcbave a material adverse effect on our restilégerations,
financial condition, and cash flows from operatadjivities.

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

The chemical industry and transportation industeyia a situation where the supply and demand tf transportatio
services and the supply and demand of raw matenialbroadly in balance. When we identify a sitwatvhere an
imbalance may occur or is occurring we may buildaie product inventories of strategic importansen@ have done
in 2008. Any significant disruption in supply cowdffect our ability to obtain raw materials or tsgortation services.
This could adversely impact our results of operetjdinancial position and cash flows from opemgtctivities.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuationsin the cost of our raw materials and energy could adversely affect our profit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processesbof the ra
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrbigsed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant price instability. These fluctuatiomsprice can be caused by political instability inppoducing nations
and elsewhere, or other factors influencing glaogply and demand over which we have no or litietiol. Innospe:
has entered hedging arrangements for certain raerials, but does not typically enter into hedgamgangements for
all raw materials, chemicals or energy costs. Shoakts of raw materials, chemicals or energy am#eand should
Innospec’s businesses not be able to pass onc¢hsseicreases to our customers, then operatinginsaand cash
flows from operating activities would be adversiehpacted. Should raw material prices increase sggmitly, then th
Companys need for working capital could increase which M@adversely impact cash flows from operating anés.

Our reliance on a small number of significant stockholders may have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

Recent disruptions in the credit markets, and carscabout global economic growth, have had a saif adverse
impact on global financial markets and contributed decline in our stock price and correspondiagket
capitalization. Almost fifty per cent of the Comp&icommon stock is held by three stockholdersegision by any
of these stockholders to sell all or a significpatt of its stockholding in the Company as a consage of current
economic conditions or otherwise could result sigmificant decline in the Comparsystock price which could in tu
adversely impact our ability to access equity migke
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Approximately twenty per cent of the Company’s capmnstock is currently held or controlled by TontDapital
Partners, L.P., Tontine 25 Overseas Master Furitl, Tontine Capital Management L.L.C., Tontine GapDverseas
Master Fund, L.P., Tontine Capital Overseas GP,Q..and Jeffrey L. Gendell (“Gendell et al”). On\wmnber 10,
2008, Gendell et al jointly filed a Schedule 13Dhathe SEC in which they reported that they willjimeto explore
alternatives for the disposition of their equityeirests in the Company’s common stock which atdast aggregated
to 4,828,345 shares.

We facerisks related to our foreign operations that may adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and accordingly operas®me countries which do not have stable economies o
governments. Specifically, we trade in countriegegiencing political and economic instability iretMiddle East and
Asia Pacific. Our international operations are sabjo international business risks including, it limited to,
unsettled political conditions, expropriation, inmpand export restrictions, exchange controls,omati and regional
labor strikes, taxes, government royalties andiodisins on repatriation of earnings or proceedsitiquidated assets
of foreign subsidiaries. The occurrence of anyg oombination, of these events could adversely atngar results of
operations, financial position and cash flows froperating activities.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our future performance and cash flows.

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgpas and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strengths. We therefore depend on bilityato develop and protect our intellectual peoty rights to
distinguish our products from those of our competit Failure to do so may result in the loss otighle technologies,
or our having to pay other companies for infringthgir intellectual property rights. Measures takgrus to protect
our intellectual property may be challenged, indaied, circumvented or rendered unenforceable. \Afeatso face
patent infringement claims from our competitors ehimay result in substantial litigation costs, iaifor damages or
a tarnishing of our reputation even if we are sasfid in defending these claims, which may causecostomers to
switch to our competitors. The occurrence of amyg oombination, of these events could adversepachour results
of operations, financial position and cash flowsiroperating activities.

We are subject to extensive government regulation.

We are subject to regulation by local, state, fald@nd foreign governmental authorities. In someurnstances these
authorities must approve our products, manufaajuonocesses and facilities before we may sell rept@ducts.
Many of the Company’s products are required todggstered with the U.S. Environmental ProtectioreAcy

(“EPA") and with comparable governmental agencieswhere. We are also subject to ongoing reviewsiof
products, manufacturing processes and facilitiegdwernmental authorities including the requirentergroduce
product data.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, amongst other things, demetesto the
relevant authority that the product is safe andative for its intended
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uses, and that we are capable of manufacturingrtidct in accordance with current regulationssTgproval
process can be costly, time consuming, and sutgeatanticipated and significant delays. Accordmghere can be
no assurance that approvals will be granted omalyi basis, or at all. Any delay in obtaining, oydailure to obtain
or maintain, these approvals would adversely affectability to introduce new products and to gateincome from
those products.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in titeré that could result in additional compliancsets@nd prever
or inhibit the development, distribution and sdl®@ar products. The European Union (“EU”) has appbadditional
legislation known as the Registration, Evaluatiod Authorization of Chemical Substances Regulat{tREACH”)
which requires most of the Company’s products toeggstered with EU Authorities. Under this legigla the
Company has to demonstrate the continuing safeitg pfoducts. During this registration period @empany will
incur expense to test and register its products.Jbmpany estimates that the cost of complying REACH will be
approximately $10 million incurred over the nextetrs. While the Company expects that its produitde
approved for registration after testing it is pbisthat certain products may not be registerdaeiftest data proves
unsatisfactory. In such an outcome some of the @oiyip products may be restricted or prohibitecheEU. This
could have a material impact on our results of af@ns, financial position or cash flows.

The Company has made a voluntary disclosure to Offg:e of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) regardidealings
with Cuba by certain of the Company’s current aonier subsidiaries. The Company is cooperating thithSEC,
DOJ and SFO regarding its participation in the OBR® related investigations. The Company has memespon for
probable future legal and other professional exgeasd/or potential penalties in respect of thesttems to the extent
they can be reasonably estimated. However shoal@tdmpany’s estimates prove to be inadequate tigeduld
have a material impact upon the Company’s operatiogme and cash flows from operating activities.

We could be adversely affected by technological changesin our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technolobozgabilities, develop and market products andiegijons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succlysafticipate or respond to technological changes cost
effective and timely manner will likely impact ofuture business success. Technological changese sr all of our
customers’ products or processes may make our pi®adbsolete and accordingly adversely impact esults of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose substantial costs on us.

In addition to other matters described elsewheeeake occasionally involved in legal proceedings thsult from,
and are incidental to, the conduct of our businiesfiyding product liability claims. We have insoc& coverage to
mitigate any potential damages in any such proogsgdhowever if our insurance did not cover sueimts, then this
could have a material adverse effect on our resfibperations, financial position and cash flows.
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Environmental matters could have a substantial adverseimpact on our results of operations.

The Company is subject to extensive federal, skatal and foreign environmental, health and salfsats and
regulations concerning emissions to the air, digggsto land and water and the generation, handhegtment and
disposal of hazardous waste and other materiaks Cdmpany is also required to obtain various envirental permit
and licenses many of which require periodic nadtficn and renewal.

The Company operates on a number of manufactuiieg) $he Company’s historic operations, and tiséohic
operations of companies who have previously opératesites that the Company has acquired, entailisk of
environmental contamination of the properties thatvns or has owned. This may result in finesranmal sanctions
against the Company or may entail the Company itenah costs to remediate historic contamination.

The Company further anticipates that certain prédodacilities may cease production in the mediontong-term.
On closure of some of these production operatiorise future, the Company expects to be subjeettironmental
laws that will require production facilities to bafely decommissioned and a degree of environmesrtadiation to
be undertaken. The degree of environmental remediaitill depend upon the plans for the future usthe operating
sites that are affected and the environmentalleggs in force at the time. The Company has culyanade a
decommissioning and remediation provision basetherCompany’s current obligations, the current plm those
sites and current environmental legislation. ShaoladdCompany'’s future plans for the sites changshould
environmental legislation change then these prongsmay prove inadequate and this will have anraévienpact on
future operating income and cash flows from opeggadictivities.

The terms of our finance facility may restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to otherwise expand our
business.

The Company’s new finance facility contains resiree clauses which may constrain our activities fmat our
operational and financial flexibility. The new fhtyi obliges the lenders to comply with a requestdtilization of
finance unless there is an event of default oudlstan Events of default are defined in the finafas®lity and include
material adverse change to our business, propeasssts, financial condition or results of operati The new facilit
contains a number of restrictions that limit oulligh amongst other things, and subject to certamted exceptions,
to incur additional indebtedness, pledge our asses®curity, guarantee obligations of third parteake investments,
undergo a merger or consolidation, dispose of assemmaterially change our line of business.

In addition, the new finance facility requires thempany to meet certain financial ratios includneg debt to
EBITDA (as defined in the finance facility) and mieterest expense to EBITDA (as defined in therfcgfacility).
The ability to meet these financial covenants ddperpon the future operating performance of thénegses. If the
Company fails to meet target covenants then it dibel in technical default on the finance facilihdaghe maturity of
the outstanding debt could be accelerated unlegasitable to obtain waivers from the lenders.
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Our Octane Additives business could decline faster than expected.

Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1973 follmythe enactment of the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1@r@ similar
legislation in other countries. The trend of coiggtrexiting the leaded gasoline market has resuitadyeneral rate of
decline in volume terms in recent years of betwHe¥ and 25% per annum. Net sales and gross pfafitraOctane
Additives business accounted for approximately Eofb 15%, respectively, of our consolidated salelsgaoss profit
in 2008, and we expect both of these percentagésdine again in fiscal year 2009. The remainialgs of the
Octane Additives business are now concentratedétatively small number of customers and therefoay decline
with unpredictable volatility and severity. Showalde or more of these customers choose for econemvonmental,
political or other reasons to cease using TEL asciéane enhancer earlier than has been anticiphieuthe
Companys future operating income and cash flows from dpegaactivities would be adversely impacted. Thawalc
also be an accelerated impairment of Octane Additbusiness goodwill as the forecast discountdd ftass from
that business would be reduced. The Company aatesghat eventually all countries in the world wibp the use of
TEL in automotive gasoline. The Company expectsithaill cease all sales of TEL for use in autoietgasoline in
2012.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or successfully integrate future acquisitions into our business, which
could hinder our strategy or result in unanticipated expenses and |osses.

It is part of our stated strategy that we intenguosue strategic acquisitions and other oppoitsio complement ai
expand our existing businesses. Our ability to enmgnt this component of our strategy will be lidit®y our ability
to identify appropriate acquisitions or other ogpoities and financial resources, including ourilade cash and
borrowing capacity and the financial markets. Thecsss of these transactions will depend on olityata integrate
assets and personnel acquired in these transacioply our internal controls processes to thegeieed businesses,
and cooperate with our strategic partners. Therseecurred in consummating acquisitions or otipgortunities,
the time it takes to integrate an acquisition, arfailure to integrate businesses successfullylccresult in
unanticipated expenses and losses. The procestegfating acquired operations into our existingrapons may
result in unforeseen operating difficulties and meguire significant financial resources that wooiderwise be
available for the ongoing development or expansiogxisting operations. Furthermore, we may nolizeahe degree
or timing of benefits we anticipate when we firstex a transaction. Any of these risks could adgrsnpact our
results of operations, financial position and cimlvs.

Our businessis subject to therisk of production or transportation interruptions, the occurrence of any of which
would adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical metwfag, blending, storage, handling and transpiortaincluding
fires, explosions, mechanical failure, transpootainterruptions, remediation, chemical spills #melrelease or
discharge of toxic or hazardous substances. Thesardis could result in loss of life, property damagnvironmental
contamination and
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temporary or permanent production cessation. Ang, @mbination, of these factors could adversalyact our
results of operations, financial position and cidslvs from operating activities.

Domestic or international natural disasters or terrorist attacks may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for
our products or otherwise have an adverse impact on our business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasichirselves, may be at greater risk of futuremist attacks than
other possible targets in the U.S., United Kingdomd throughout the world. The occurrence of su@nesvcannot be
predicted though they can be expected to contionaglversely impact the economy in general and pecic
markets. The resulting damage from such an evend ¢oclude loss of life, property damage or sitesare. Any, or a
combination, of these factors could adversely imhpac results of operations, financial position @agh flows from
operating activities.

ltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshsewn in the following table. Each of these prapsris owned
by the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location Business and Business Segment Operations

Newark, Delaware, U.<® Innospec Inc. — Corporate Corporate Headquarters

Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom Innospec Inc. and Innospec Limited — Fuel SpeeigftActive European Headquarters
Chemicals and Octane Additives Business Teams

Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development
Fuel Technology Centt

Widnes, United Kingdom Innospec Widnes Limited (previously known as Arofiae Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals Limited— Active Chemicals

Herne, German Innospec Deutschland Gmi— Fuel Specialtie Manufacturing/Administratiol

Leuna, Germany Innospec Leuna GmbH — Fuel Specialties and Active Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals

Vernon, Franci Innospec France S- Fuel Specialtie Manufacturing/Administratio

Zug, Switzerland® Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH — Octane Additives Sales/Administration

Littleton, Coloradd? Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC — Fuel Specialties Sales/Administration

Newark, Delawar@ Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC — Fuel Specialties Sales/Administration

Research & Developme
High Point, North Carolin Innospec Active Chemicals LL— Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol
Spencer, North Carolir Innospec Active Chemicals LL— Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol

@) Leased property

The corporate headquarters of Innospec Inc. idddcat 220 Continental Drive, Newark, DE 19713. Pphacipal
executive offices of Innospec Inc. are locatechabspec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, EllesnRort,
Cheshire, United Kingdom, CH65 4EY.

Production Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemeetsu#ficient to meet expected future sales lev@jserating rates of
the plants are generally flexible and varied witbduct mix and normal sales swings. Specificallg,lvelieve our
Octane Additives manufacturing site at Ellesmerg,Rinited Kingdom can be managed in a flexible aost
effective manner in order to meet anticipated fidemand. We believe that all of our facilities awedl maintained
and in good operating condition.

19



Table of Contents

Item 3 Legal Proceedings
QOil for Food Program and related investigations

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ission (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamranenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with certaamsactions
conducted by or involving the Company, includinggé conducted by its wholly owned indirect Swidssatiary,
Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”), under the lted Nations Oil for Food Program (“OFFP”) betwelkme 1,
1999 and December 31, 2003. As part of its invabg, the SEC issued a subpoena requiring theuptimh of
certain documents, including documents relatintpése transactions, by the Company and Alcor. Upoeipt of the
SEC'’s notification and initial subpoena, the Compandertook a review of its participation in the k&

On October 10, 2007 and November 1, 2007, the ®f&¢@d two additional subpoenas on the Company.elhes
additional subpoenas required the production otidmmts relating primarily to the OFFP, but alsatiag to
transactions conducted by the Company or its sidygd with state owned or state controlled ergibetween June 1,
1999 and the date of such subpoenas, concerningséhef foreign agents and the possibility of extratractual
payments to secure business with foreign goverrahentities in the context of the U.S. Foreign @ptrPractices A«
(“FCPA”) and other laws. In a co-ordinated inveatign, the Company was also notified by the U.Sdenent of
Justice (“DOJ”) regarding the possibility of viatats by the Company or its subsidiaries arisingenrdher laws
stemming from matters covered by the SEC investigats well as certain preliminary inquiries regagdcompliance
with anti-trust laws applicable to the U.S. ancinational tetra-ethyl lead markets. The subjedtswhich the SEC
and DOJ have inquired include areas that concetaiodormer and current executives of the Compargiuding the
current CEO. The Company, and its officers andctiims, are cooperating with the SEC and DOJ ingastins.

On February 19, 2008, the Board of Directors ofGoenpany formed a committee comprised of the chenrof the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Nominating amy&nance Committee, all of whom were independent
directors. (The chairman of the Nominating and Goaace Committee retired as a director of the Compdfective
May 6, 2008, but his services have been retainash imdependent capacity as a member of the cosahitExternal
counsel to the Company, reporting to the commhiee on behalf of the committee, conducted andowiitinue to
conduct an investigation into the circumstancesgivise to the SEC and DOJ investigations. Extieraansel report
directly to the committee and assists in conneatith communications and interactions with the Si@ DOJ.

On March 5, 2008, a letter was received by the Gomrom the DOJ in which a request for a wider anade
detailed range of documents was made. The Compahitsaofficers and directors intend to continuedeoperate
with the SEC and DOJ.

Separately, on May 21, 2008, the United Kingdongsa&is Fraud Office (“SFOotified Innospec Limited, a whol
owned subsidiary of the Company, that it had conuedran
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investigation into certain contracts involving Bft companies under the OFFP. As part of this ity&tson, the SFO
has asked the Company to produce documents inatesipiie Company’s participation in the OFFP betwe
January 1, 1996 and December 31, 2003. Followiogipe of the SFO’s notice the Company has instdietg¢ernal
legal counsel to advise and assist in relatioléanvestigation and the Company and its direaadsofficers intend
to co-operate with the SFO. On October 16, 2068 CQbmpany was further notified that the scope efSRO’s
investigation would extend to matters relating adetial bribery involving overseas commercial dgehat are
already in the large part the subject of the ong@®J and SEC investigations.

The outcome of these investigations remains unoaidadhe Company. On the facts available to us ot yet
possible to form any reasonable estimate of therpiail disgorgement, penalties and fine paymeiitsgreby referenc
to a range of possible outcomes or by referentieetdower end of such a range of outcomes. The atadany
disgorgements, penalties or fines that the Companid face would depend on a number of eventuabfaavhich ar:
not currently known to the Company, including fingls by relevant authorities regarding the amouatyne and scog.
of any improper payments, the amount of any pecyrmgain involved, the Company’s ability to pay, ahd level of
co-operation provided to government authoritiesrauthe investigations.

Because of the uncertainties associated with tireatle outcome of these investigations and thesdosthe Company
of responding and participating in them, no assteaan be given that the ultimate costs incurredsamctions that
may be imposed will not have a material adversecefin the Company’s results of operations, firermosition
and/or cash flows from operating activities.

At December 31, 2007 we had accrued $3.7 millioregpect of estimated probable future legal andrgilofessional
expenses and provided no additional accruals pemf the investigations. As part of our contigucommitment to
co-operate and comply with the SEC and DOJ invastigs, including the request for documents setrotite DOJ
letter dated March 5, 2008, we accrued a furthe8 $6llion during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 spect of
estimated probable future legal and other professiexpenses. During the quarter ended June 3@, 2@® Company
provided no additional accruals in respect of thaaéers.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2008 thep@oynaccrued an additional $8.7 million in respdastimated
probable legal and other professional fees andresgse The provision for probable future legal atigoprofessional
fees and expenses amounted to $3.4 million at DieeeB1, 2008. These accruals are made on the dfabis
Company’s then current best estimate, working imsattation with the committee of the Board of Dimgs, external
legal counsel to the Company and its other prodessiadvisors. Should any underlying assumptionsgmcorrect
or should any of the DOJ, SEC and/or the SFO Hiescope of the investigations, then the actustsdocurred by
the Company could differ materially from currentiesites.

21



Table of Contents

The Company continues to keep the amount of suctualcprovisions under review as it has been domguding
through working with the committee of the Board &xtkrnal legal counsel and other professionalsaisi

Bycosin Disposal

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of Gban Assets Control Regulations to the Officearélgn Assets
Control. Given the international scope of its operatidhe,Company is subject to laws of many differensplictions
including laws relating to the imposition of restions on trade and investment with various ergtitgersons and
countries, some of which laws are conflicting. 002 the Company reviewed, as it does periodicalipects of its
operations in respect of such restrictions, andrdehed to dispose of certain non-core, non-U.Bsisliaries of
Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries hadrbergaged in transactions and activities invol\@uipan persons
and entities before the acquisition of the Bycd@iup by the Company in June 2001, and such salsdiwere
continuing to engage in such transactions andites\at the time of the disposal of the non-caselFSpecialties
business and related assets in November 2004. @enwer 15, 2004, Bycosin AB, a wholly-owned sulasigiof the
Company organized under the laws of Sweden (nowhkras Innospec Sweden AB, the “Seller”), enteréal &n
Business and Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agma@nvath Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB (the “Purchgser
Hakan Bystrom and others as the Purchaser’s guaisamind Octel Petroleum Specialties Limited (nmeown as
Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited) as the Sellguarantor, and completed the all-cash transactioteeplated
thereby (together with related transactions, th&fiaction”). The Agreement provided for, amongisénthings:

() the disposal of certain non-core Fuel Spe@albusiness and related manufacturing and othetsasisthe Seller;
and (ii) the supply and distribution of certain govproducts to certain geographic regions. Theomesideration paid
by the Purchaser was approximately $2.9 million.

Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&offeign
Assets Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions atlvities engaged in by certain non-U.S. subsigisaof the
Company. Disclosures, amongst other items, inclubdatthe aggregate monetary value of the trarmactnvolving
Cuban persons and entities conducted by the Congaag-U.S. subsidiaries since January 1999 warsoappately
$26.6 million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingtha Company 1
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Widlealties could
be assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessallige against the Company on a “performance ofraots basis”,
the applicable regulations provide for penaltiaghie case of civil violations of the Cuban Assetsitrol Regulations
(31 CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?”), of the lesser of $6H)(er violation or the value of the contract. ®idanuary 1999,
non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entert®ddi3 contracts with Cuban entities, each of wisiohld be
considered a separate violation of the CACR by OFBEAC may take the position that the CACR showd b
interpreted or applied in a different manner, po&dlly even to permit the assessment of penaltigskto or greater
than the value of the business conducted with Cpleasons or entities.
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The Company has considered the range of possitbdermes and potential penalties payable. In accoedaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beaderfor management’s current best estimate ofatenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hoveryshould the underlying assumptions prove incbrtbe actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tones#i the
amount of any additional loss, if any.

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjrwere found not to have complied with the CA@R, Company
believes that it could be subject to fines or ottieit or criminal penalties which could be matéria

Patent Actions

The Company is actively opposing certain third ypagtents in various regions of the world. Theawiare part of t
Company’s ongoing management of its intellectuapprty portfolio. The Company does not believe #rat of these
actions will have a material effect on the finahc@ndition or results of operations of the Company

Other Legal Matters

We are involved from time to time in claims anddkegroceedings that result from, and are incidemtahe conduct
of our business including product liability clainThere are no other material pending legal procegsdio which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party,farloich any of their property is subject, otherrtt@dinary, routine
litigation incidental to their respective businesse

Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:
No matter was submitted to a vote of security haldiiring the quarter ended December 31, 2
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, anddsuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bdé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholdafrsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyeanon that date. The shares were distributed gn2Dyl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exeegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Tdllowing information has been retrospectivelywsigd for this stoc
split.

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASD@&@nbol — IOSP). As of February 13, 2009 there were
approximately 1,300 registered holders of the comstock. The following table shows the closing hagid low
prices of our common stock for each of the lashiegarters.

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2008

High $ 22.6( $ 25.2¢ $ 23.4¢ $ 11.0¢

Low $ 14.1C $ 18.8¢ $ 11.6C $ 4.54
2007

High $ 30.5¢ $ 31.0¢ $ 31.82 $ 23.91

Low $ 22.1¢ $ 26.3( $ 18.7: $ 16.2¢
Dividends

In line with its policy of semi-annual consideratiof a dividend the Company declared the followsagh dividends
for the two years ended December 31, 2008.

Date declared Stockholders of record Date paid Amount per share
February 26, 200 March 5, 2007 April 2, 2007 4.5 cents
August 14, 200° September 4, 20C October 9, 20C 4.5 centt
February 22, 200 March 14, 200¢ April 4, 2008 5 cents
August 14, 200: September 1, 20C October 6, 20C 5 cents

The finance facility entered into on December I&)®allowed a maximum dividend of $2.5 million pe&mum in
2005, plus 10% annual growth thereafter, provided ho default had occurred or would have resuitad such
payment. In addition, the Company was allowed purehase its own common stock provided that itrditlaffect
compliance with the financial covenants in thailfigc On February 6, 2009 we entered into a nexeehyear finance
facility which contains no restrictive covenantghwiespect to dividends and the
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Company is allowed to repurchase its own commockgtoovided that it does not affect compliance wtiité financial
covenants in this facility. This new finance fagilieplaced the previous finance facility which viaglace at
December 31, 2008.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
No purchases of equity securities by the issuafffdiated purchasers were made during the que
Repurchases of common stock are held as treasargsshnless reissued under equity compensatios.plan

During January 2008 the Company re-purchased 10488res at a cost of $1.6 million. On March 3,20@
Company announced that the Board of Directors h#fibaized a further stock re-purchase plan undée ROb5-1 to
repurchase up to an additional $8.0 million of camrstock. This plan commenced on March 3, 2008cantpleted
on April 29, 2008. The Company re-purchased 379sHaf2es at a cost of $8.0 million under this plan.

The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiantaioed in th
table entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Informatiander the heading “Equity Compensation Plangh& Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.clinent limit for the total amount of shares whoan be issued or
awarded under the Company'’s five share option gkats/90,000.

The Company has not, within the last three yeasglerany sales of unregistered securities.
25



Table of Contents

Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netioistockholders on the Common Stock of the Cadfpam, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 20@@x since December 31, 2003, assuming a $106timext
and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Inc. vs S&P 300, NASDAC Composite and Russell 2000 Indices
Total Return to Shareholders since December 31, 2002

350
2 30
£ 250
.i: 2K
; 1] ]
i )
ih
3L I 200 12F 31 HN05 L3200 P30T 12422008
==nnospec Inc =M= 5&P 5 Index —#=NASDAD Composile Bussell 20K
Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2003*
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Innospec Inc 10C 106.2¢ 83.7t 240.2: 177.7. 61.3t
S&P 500 Inde» 10C 108.9¢ 112.2¢ 127.5F 132.0¢ 81.2:
NASDAQ Composite 10C 108.5¢ 110.0¢ 120.5¢ 132.3¢ 78.7:
Russell 200( 10C 117.0C 120.8¢ 141.4: 137.5f 89.6¢

* Excludes purchase commissic
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ltem 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dollar amounts in millions 2005 ® 2004 @
except financial ratios and per share data) 2008 2007 2006
Summary of performance
Net sales $ 640.t $ 602. $ 532.1 $ 564.¢ $ 496.¢
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (3.7 (22.7) (36.7) (134.9 (40.7)
Operating income/(los: 43.€ 47.¢ 31.¢ (97.7) 41.7
Income/(loss) before income taxes and minorityrat 18.¢ 47.¢ 31.¢ (117.9 34.C
Minority interest (0.2 (0.2 (0.2 (0.2 (2.0
Income taxe: (6.3 (18.2) (20.9 (4.2 (20.7)
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic 12.t 29.t 11.4 (122.9) 11.¢
Net income/(loss 12.t 29.k 11.4 (123.9) 6.2
Net cash provided by operating activit 14.4 47.¢ 36.4 43.¢ 62.4
Financial position at year end
Total asset 494.% 551.1 569.( 675.: 790.¢
Long-term debt (including current portio 73.C 81.C 148.1 144.€ 124.:
Stockholder’ equity $ 229.: $ 271t $ 225.( $ 314.¢ $ 445.¢
Financial ratios
Net income/(loss) as a percent of si 2.C 4.¢ 2.1 (21.9 1.2
Effective income tax rate as a percéht 33.t 38.2 64.2 (3.5 62.€
Current ratid® 1.4 1€ 2.1 1.7 1.2

Share data®
Earnings/(loss) per sha

— Basic 0.5¢ 1.2¢ 0.47 (5.00 0.2t
— Fully diluted 0.51 1.1¢ 0.4t (5.00 0.24
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operat

— Basic 0.5¢ 1.2¢ 0.47 (4.99 0.4¢
— Fully diluted 0.51 1.1¢ 0.4t (4.99) 0.4¢€
Dividend paid per shai 0.1C 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.07 0.0€
Shares outstanding (basic, thousai

— At year enc 23,59¢ 23,771 23,80¢ 24,65( 24,67¢
— Average during yee 23,59¢ 23,92( 24,14 24,735 24,69(
Closing stock prict

— High 25.2¢ 31.82 24.2( 10.2¢ 16.0(
- Low 4.5¢ 16.2¢ 8.3¢ 7.3C 9.31
— At year enc 5.8¢ 17.1¢ 23.2¢ 8.14 10.41

(1) 2005 and 2004 comparatives have been restatedén tar reflect discontinued operatio

(2) The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdigncome before income tax

(3) Current ratio is defined as current assets dividedurrent liabilities

(4) On June 18, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had approved a 2-for-1 stodk pbe effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineadpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werddisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders iramt one additional option for
every option they held and the original exercidegs for these options were halved to reflect thekssplit. The table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY (UNAUDITED)

First Second Third Fourth
(dollar amounts in millions Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
except per share data)
2008
Net sales $168.7  $145.: $158.t $168.(
Gross profi 51.7 41.1 43.4 50.2
Operating incom® 12.5 4.4 4.7 22.C
Net income/(loss® 7.2 0.8 (0.€) 5.C
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi $ 19.6 $(16.6) $(125) $ 23.7
Per common shar
Earnings/(loss- basic $ 031 $ 0.0¢ $(0.09 $ 0.21
— fully diluted @ $ 03C $ 0.0¢ $(0.09 $ 0.2
2007
Net sales $145.. $141.¢ $143.( $172.7
Gross profi 49.7 47.¢ 45.¢ 54.c
Operating incom 13.2 10.¢ 10.€ 13.c
Net income 6.C 6.€ 5.€ 11.1
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi $ 9C $ (6. $ 20.1 $ 25.€
Per common shar
Earnings- basic® $ 028 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢
— fully diluted ® $ 024 $ 0.27 $ 0.2t $ 0.4t
NOTES

(1) Unusual items during the year ended Decembe?@18 comprised the following: legal and otherfpssional expenses relating to the
Oil for Food Program and related investigation$&8 million and $8.7 million in the first and tdiquarters, respectively; foreign
exchange gains/(losses) of $0.5 million gain, (Bindlion loss, ($5.0) million loss and ($13.5) fiwh loss in the first, second, third and
fourth quarters, respectively; impairment of Octawdglitives business goodwill of $1.1 million, $Indllion, $1.1 million and $0.5
million in the first, second, third and fourth gteas, respectively; and restructuring charges d &dlllion, $1.1 million, $0.3 million
and $0.2 million in the first, second, third andifih quarters, respectivel

(2) The financial results for the third quarter edd&eptember 30, 2008, as presented in the eamgilegse on October 30, 2008, were
agreed with our independent registered public autog firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC"),qurio the release. These
financial results included the reversal of contratated provisions of $6.3 million, or $4.5 milli@fter income taxes, to the income
statement together with related disclosure. Sulm#do the issue of this earnings release furtbesideration was given to the reversal
of the contract related provisions by PwC and thenfany and it was concluded that an alternativewatting treatment would be to
offset them against a related intangible asseerAftie consideration, including advice receivedffewC, the Company determined 1
the most appropriate accounting treatment woultblexclude the reversal of contract related prowvisifrom net income and offset
them against the related intangible asset. Thesradtive accounting treatment resulted in a netfosthe quarter ended September 30,
2008 and lower future amortization charges in respéthe related asset. The Company’s Form 10+@hi® quarter ended September
30, 2008 reflected this alternative accountingtiresnt.
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(3)

(4)

()

In view of the fact that a net loss of $0.6lioil was made in the third quarter, 2008, the basit fully diluted loss per common share
are the same for that quart

Unusual items during the year ended Decembg2@17 comprised the following: legal and otherfgssional expenses relating to the
Oil for Food Program and related investigation$@£ million and $4.4 million in the third and fdlirquarters, respectively; foreign
exchange gains/(losses) of $0.3 million gain, $dilion gain, $1.5 million gain and $3.9 million igain the first, second, third and
fourth quarters, respectively; impairment of Octawglitives business goodwill of $4.4 million, $318llion, $2.4 million and $2.0
million in the first, second, third and fourth gteas, respectively; and restructuring charges of &dlllion, $1.3 million, $0.9 million
and $0.1 million in the first, second, third andifiln quarters, respectivel

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had approved a 2-for-1 stodk gpbe effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werddisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders iramt one additional option for
every option they held and the original exercisegw for these options were halved to reflect tbekssplit. The table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated Financial Statements and the ribézsto.
GENERAL

We divide our business into three distinct segmartboth management and reporting purposes: Fuetidlties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgptes and Active Chemicals businesses both epénamarket
where we actively seek growth opportunities. Théa@e Additives business, although still profitalidecharacterized
by substantial declining demand.

The Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagtolends and markets a range of specialty chemioducts used
as additives to a wide range of fuels. The busigesw initially through a program of acquisitionsdamore recently,
organically, through the development of new proguahd increases in sales and profitability.

The Active Chemicals business provides effectichnelogy-based solutions for our customers’ proeess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indudriaktitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients markétss business
has also grown through acquisitions and we areisgé develop new products and continue orgaroevir.

The Octane Additives business is the world’s ombydpicer of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. W @ntinuing
to manage the decrease in the sales of TEL fomusetomotive gasoline to maximize the cash flovatigh the
decline. Continuous cost improvement measures bese, and will continue to be, taken to respondetdining
market demand.

On June 23, 2008 the Company announced a furtteamnslining of its business into a unified, sales-déobal
business focused on rapidly meeting customezsds anywhere in the world. The Company is motoran integrate
regional model running its growth businesses asstmreamlined business operating across three gauged regions —
Americas, EMEA (i.e. Europe, Middle East and Afjicand ASPAC (i.e. Asia-Pacific).

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the comloipeciating income of the Fuel Specialties and Adibemicals
segments of our business rose 46%, as comparedheitear ended December 31, 2006, and now rereé8&mof
the operating income generated by our businessesoiBparison operating income for the Octane Adegisegment
declined 97% from $34.5 million to $1.2 million awthe same period although $14.2 million of thislae can be
attributed to the legal and other professional egps incurred relating to Oil for Food Program eeidted
investigations. The Octane Additives segment ofbausiness will continue to decline as the last iaimg countries
that continue to allow TEL for use in automotivesgiine move away from leaded gasoline. We expedtivite will
cease all sales of TEL for use in automotive gasah 2012, and that we will continue to impair Metane Additives
business goodwill until or prior to that point. Hever, we have succeeded in
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implementing our strategic plan of creating suffitigrowth in the Fuel Specialties and Active Cleaisi segments of
our business to more than offset the decline irCibane Additives business.

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicasimmanufacturing and blending processes and lgetlea’ sources
of these are adequate for our current operatioaw. iRaterials account for a substantial portionwfvariable
manufacturing costs. These materials are, witlexoeption of ethylene in Germany, readily availdlbden more than
one source. We use long-term contracts (generatlyfixed prices and escalation terms) to help emswailability,
continuity of supply and manage the risk of pricereases for some raw materials with commodity swap
Nevertheless, raw materials are subject to prisgdhtions and we may be exposed to risk as poict®se rav
materials increase as a result of factors thaharevithin our control.

We are subject to extensive regulation by locakestfederal and foreign governmental authoriteh ith respect to
the methods by which we manufacture and marketymtscand how we conduct our business. In that deges are
exposed to risks that we may incur liabilities aodts in order to conform to required regulationsxdhe event that
we fail to comply with any laws or regulations. \&ie currently the subject of investigations byth8. and U.K.
government authorities relating to certain aspettar international operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our objective is to clearly present our financrdbrmation in a manner that enhances the undeiisiguod our source
of earnings and cash flows together with our finaln@osition. We aim to achieve this by disclosinfprmation
required by the SEC together with further informaatthat provides insight into our businesses.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations discusses Irewsp
consolidated financial statements which have beepgsed in accordance with accounting principlesegaly
accepted in the United States of America. The pedjma of these financial statements requires mamagt to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartedints of assets and liabilities and the discisiicontingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finanstalements and the reported amounts of revenaesx@enses during
the reporting period. On an on-going basis managemaluates its estimates and judgments. Managdrasas its
estimates and judgments on historical experiendeoarvarious other factors that are believed tcelasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form thesfor making judgments about the carrying vahfesssets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results may differ from theséenestes under
different assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of Nates to the Consolidated Financial Statementsided a summary
of the significant accounting policies and methosgesd in the preparation of the Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements and suppléamgdata disclose our accounting principles aedtiethods and
estimates used in the preparation of those corselid
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financial statements. We believe those statemertsisclosures represent fairly the operating tesard financial
position of the Company. The purpose of this partbour report is to further emphasize some ofntioee critical
areas where a significant change in facts and istances in our operating and financial environngentd cause a
change in results of operations or financial positiThe policies and estimates that the Compangiders the most
critical in terms of subjectivity and judgment afsassment are provided below.

Contingencies

We are subject to legal, regulatory and other grdrgys and claims. The Company discloses informatamcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claimsl @roceedings for which an unfavorable outconmaase than remot:
We recognize liabilities for these claims and pealiegs as appropriate based upon the probabildyeatimability of
losses and to fairly present, in conjunction wita tisclosures of these matters in our consolidatedcial
statements, management’s view of our exposure.a@lew outstanding claims and proceedings with eslecounsel
as appropriate to assess probability and estinohtess. The Company will recognize a liabilityatdd to claims and
proceedings at such time as an unfavorable outt@oemes probable and the amount can be reasorstiohated.
When the reasonable estimate is a range the rexamhhability will be the best estimate within thenge. If no amout
in the range is a better estimate than any otheuatrthe minimum amount of the range will be recpgd. The
Company recognizes its legal and other relatedepsidnal expenses within selling, general and adtrative
expenses as and when the associated course of ectommitted to.

We re-evaluate these assessments each quarten@wasd significant information becomes availdbldetermine
whether a liability should be recognized or if axysting liability should be adjusted. The actuadtcof ultimately
resolving a claim or proceeding may be substagtdifferent from the amount of the recognized lidypi In addition,
because it is not permissible under U.S. GAAP togeize a liability until the loss is both probabled estimable, in
some cases there may be insufficient time to rezegmliability prior to the actual incurrence bétloss (upon verdict
and judgment at trial, for example, or in the cafsa quickly negotiated settlement).

As discussed in Note 18 of the Notes to the Codat#d Financial Statements the Company is sulgegeturities ar
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), U.S. Department ofidasand United Kingdom Serious Fraud Office inigegions
into its involvement in the United Nations Oil feood Program (“OFFP”) and other matters beyondQuseP,
including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Iniéidd, in 2005 we made voluntary disclosure of plalssviolations
of the Cuban Assets Control Regulations to the Offce of Foreign Assets Control regarding tranisas and
activities engaged in Cuba by certain of our no8-ubsidiaries. Management believes that atithisit is still not
able to predict with any certainty how the U.SUoK. governments will calculate the number of pbksviolations of
these laws and regulations that may have occumrdteaature or amount of penalties to which wddte subject.
Because of the uncertainties associated with tieate outcome
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of these investigations and the costs to the Cognparesponding and participating in them, no assoe can be
given that the ultimate costs and sanctions thatlmeamposed upon us will not have a material aslveffect on our
results of operations, financial position and ci@lvs from operating activities.

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2008 amdunt&22.8 million and relate principally to our itéd Kingdom
site. The Company records environmental liabilitidgen they are probable and costs can be estimadsdnably. Th
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplganth
environmental legislation in the relevant countriise Company views the costs of vacating our raaited
Kingdom site as a contingent liability because ¢hiemo present intention to exit the site. The Gany has further
determined that, due to the uncertain producoiif€EL, particularly in the market for aviation gédise, there exists
such uncertainty as to the timing of such cashdltvat it is not possible to estimate these floufigently reliably to
recognize a provision.

Goodwill

The Company adopted FAS 142oodwill and Other Intangible Assetsffective January 1, 2002. This requires that
goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life shoutdlonger be amortized, but subject to an annuahimpent review,
or between years if events occur or circumstanbasge which suggest that an impairment may haver et

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatsdgall as of
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair value of the reporting unitdartying the
segments is estimated using an after tax cashrflethhodology based on managemetigst available estimates at 1
time. The key assumptions underpinning these catiomis include future revenue growth, gross margimsthe
Company'’s weighted average cost of capital. At Ddmer 31, 2008 we had $139.2 million of goodwillatelg to our
Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals businessethigdate we performed annual impairment revians
concluded that there has been no impairment ofgitiad respect of those reporting segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octaneditt/es market globally, as the Company makes s#l€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining salesa@mesponding cash flows that can be derived fizenQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydineralue of the Octane Additives reporting usiteduced. As a
result the Company determined that quarterly inmpant reviews be performed from January 1, 2004azryd
impairment charge arising be recognized in theveglequarter. As a result of the Octane Additivepairment
reviews performed during 2008, 2007 and 2006 inmpat charges of $3.7 million, $12.1 million and $36illion,
respectively, were recognized. These charges areash in nature and have no impact on taxatioarel'ts $9.0
million of goodwill remaining at December 31, 20@8ich relates to the Octane Additives businesseihe
guantum and predictability of the remaining futaesh flows from the Octane Additives
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business the Company expects goodwill impairmeatggs to be recognized in the income statemenhon a
approximate straight-line basis to December 3122&ffective October 1, 2008 the Company extentkedstimate
for the future life of the Octane Additives busisé®om December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

We believe that the assumptions used in our aranghuarterly impairment reviews are reasonablethat they are
judgmental, and that variations in any of the agstions may result in materially different calcutats of impairmen
charges, if any. At December 31, 2008, the surh@fair values of our reporting units was in exagflsthe Companyg
market capitalization (based upon our stock pridbe@same date) due primarily to an estimatedrobptemium. The
control premium reflects the fact that managemastdccess to information, such as future projestiand the power
to make investment, financing and resource allooatiecisions. Management do not believe that artlgdugoodwill
impairment charges are required to be recognizedldition to those already recognized in respethi®Octane
Additives reporting unit.

Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization

At December 31, 2008 we had $28.3 million of infates that are discussed in Note 9 of the Notdkdo
Consolidated Financial Statements. These intangisets relate to all of our business segmentar@nioeing
amortized straight-line over periods of up to 1a8rge We continually assess the markets and prodeleted to these
intangibles, as well as their specific carryinguwes, and have concluded that these carrying valumgsmortization
periods remain appropriate. We also evaluate tiitgegibles for any potential impairment when egestcur or
circumstances change which suggest that an impairmay have occurred. If events occur or circunt#archange it
may possibly cause a reduction in periods over wthese intangibles are amortized or result inracash
impairment of a portion of the intangibles’ carnyimalue. A reduction in amortization periods wohée no effect on
cash flows.

Pensions

The Company’s principal pension arrangement isrdritiutory defined benefit pension plan (“the Plaodvering a
number of its current and former employees in thedd Kingdom though it does also have other muncaller
pension arrangements in the United Kingdom andsaas.

The Company is contributing amounts to the Placoicer service costs to date. Employee and employ@ributions
from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2007 were aaBd@22.6%, respectively, of pensionable pay. Franudry 1,
2007, employee and employer contributions weréataid 29%, respectively. In addition, since Marb@2, the
Company has been contributing.B million per calendar year in accordance wiftDgear deficit recovery plan. Frc
January 1, 2008, employee and employer contribsitiemained at 7% and 29% though employee contoibsitivere
paid by the employer through a salary sacrificaragement. The estimated level of Company contobstinto the
Plan for 2009 is $5.8 million.
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A full tri-annual actuarial valuation of the Plamsvperformed as at December 31, 2005 and an upedtemed as at
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the results miwvare reflected in these consolidated finandetesnents. At
December 31, 2008 the underlying plan asset valdeP80 were $557.4 million and $571.2 million, resjvely,
resulting in a deficit of $13.8 million. A full tdnnual actuarial valuation of the Plan as at Ddmar31, 2008 will be
performed in 2009. The results of this valuatiofi e reflected in the consolidated financial sta¢ats as at
December 31, 2009.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ BE dependent on actual return on investmentpayndwards
as well as our assumptions in respect of the digta@ie, annual member mortality rates, futurerretn assets, future
pay escalation, future pension increases and finélegion. We develop these assumptions after icemnsg advice
from a major global actuarial consulting firm. Aagige in any one of these assumptions could impagtlan asset
value, PBO and pension cost recognized in the ircstiaement. Such changes could impact our opgnasults and
financial position. A 0.25% change in either thecdiunt rate assumption, or level of price inflatt@sumption, would
change the PBO by approximately $19 million andrteéepension charge for 2008 by approximately $iildon.

The Company accounts for the Plan in accordande WASS 87 Employers’ Accounting for PensionsAS 88,
Employer’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments ofifsel Benefit Pension Plamsd FAS 158Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OthestRagirement Plan. Further disclosure is provided in Note 6 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance and Uncertai Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2008, we had a valuation allowaggregating $7.3 million against all of our foreigm credit carr
forwards and certain of our foreign deferred taseés The valuation allowance was calculated ior@ance with the
provisions of FAS 109 ccounting for Income Taxesvhich requires an assessment of both negativeasitive
evidence when measuring the need for a valuatlowanhce. In accordance with FAS 109, evidence, sscbperatin
results during the most recent periods, is giveremeeight than our expectations of future profiliggiwhich are
inherently uncertain. Our expectation is that wewarlikely to use the foreign tax credits and utaiety about
profitability in certain foreign locations for futel periods represented sufficient negative evidémcequire a
valuation allowance under FAS 109. We intend tontaén a valuation allowance until sufficient posttievidence
exists to support the realization of such assets.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dwating uncertainties in the application of complax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audituss based on our estimate of whether, and thetdstarhich,
additional taxes will be required. If we ultimatelgtermine that payment of these amounts is unsaggsve reverse
the liability and recognize a tax benefit during fteriod in which we determine that the liabilgynio longer
necessary.
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We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thiatmore likely than not that our positions wi#t bustained when
challenged by the taxing authorities in accordamitle the recognition criteria of FASB Interpretatidlo 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Ta>(“FIN 48”). To the extent we prevail in matters fohich liabilities have
been established, or are required to pay amourmsdess of our liabilities, our effective tax ratea given period may
be materially affected. An unfavorable tax settlatrmaay require cash payments and result in anaseren our
effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Adeable tax settlement may be recognized as a rieductour effective
tax rate in the year of resolution. We report iegtrand penalties related to uncertain income @¢akipns as income
taxes. For additional information regarding undaritacome tax positions see Note 7 of the Noteké¢oConsolidated
Financial Statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations — Fiscal 2008 compared to sl 2007:

The following table providing operating income l®porting business also provides the comparativdtsesf
operations in 2007 and 2006.

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $440.¢  $374.€  $311.
Active Chemicals 138.: 133.¢ 120.4
Octane Additive: 61.c 94.C 100.4

$640.t  $602..  $532.]

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $145.¢ $124.7  $106.
Active Chemicals 12.5 24.¢ 22.71
Octane Additive: 28.c 48.1 57.¢

$186.«  $197..  $186.7

Operating Income

Fuel Specialtie $80.C $63€ $45.7
Active Chemicals (5.0 6.1 5.8
Octane Additive: 1.2 19.¢ 34.t
FAS 158/87 pension (charg (2.3 (4.6 —

Corporate cost (24.9) (22.0) (22.7)
Restructuring charg (2.2 (3.0 (4.5
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (3.7 (12.7) (36.7)
Profit on disposals (ne 0.4 — 9.2
Total operating incom $43€ $47¢ $31¢
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(in millions except ratios)

Net sales

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross margin (%)
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:
Aggregate

Operating expense:
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

FAS 158/87 pension (charg

Corporate cost

Fuel Specialties

Change

2008 2007
$ 440.¢ $ 374.¢ $ 66.2
138.: 133.¢ 4.t
61.2 94.C (32.7)
$ 640.5 $ 602.¢ $ 38.1
$ 145.¢ $124.7 $ 20.¢
12.t 24.¢ (12.7)
28.2 48.1 (29.¢)
$ 186.¢ $197.¢ $(11.0
33.0 33.3 -0.3
9.0 18.4 -9.4
46.2 51.2 -5.0
29.1 32.8 -3.7
$ (63.9) $ (59.0 $ 4.9
(16.7) (17.3) 1.C
(23.9) (14.6) (8.6)
(2.3 (4.6 2.8
(24.9) (22.0 (2.9
$(130.0 $(117.5 $(12.5)

+1E%
+3%
-35%

+6%

+17%
-49%
-41%

-6%

+7%
-6%
+58%
-50%
+13%

+11%

Net salesthe year on year increase of 18% was spread aitre@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 18%), EMEA (up 18%), ASPAC (up 23%)l &vtel (up 9%). This growth was due to volume {ip
percentage points), price and product mix (up tex@age points) and the favorable impact of exchaatgs (up 1

percentage point).

» Americas delivered strong sales of static dissigatabricity improvers and cetane number improvém®wth
was focused in volume (up 10 percentage points)amcher price and product mix (up 8 percentagetpp

» Europe, Middle East and Afric*EMEA”) net sales increased by 18% driven by strong sdlpsrtormance
refinery and light heating oil additives. Growthsvacused in volume (up 9 percentage points), @ik
product mix (up 6 percentage points) and the faMerampact of exchange rates (up 3 percentageg)c

» The Asia Pacific regior* ASPAC’) benefited from strong sales of refinery additived diesel detergent
Growth was focused in volume (up 22 percentagetppand price and product mix (up 1 percentagetpc
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* The TEL for use in aviation gasolin®Avtel”) business growth was primarily due to a richer sales(up 11
percentage points) offset by lower volume (dowre&pntage points). The results in the corresponpimipd
last year were positively impacted by the more fatste pricing allowed, and the volumes sold, urider
Ethyl settlement

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.3 percentage podgftsats both the lower proportion of higher margin
Avtel sales together with the adverse impact ofdoiWEL production volumes on the fixed cost basthef
manufacturing site at Ellesmere Port, United Kingd&ross margins in the remainder of the marketeaneed largel
constant as we successfully passed raw matered picreases onto our customers.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of $1.9 million of one-timeofessional fees in 2007 the year on year
increase in operating expenses was $6.2 milliatilés. The underlying 11% increase was less thath8be sales
growth as we continued to leverage the infrastinectd this business. This was achieved despitadierse impact o
until the latter months of 2008, the relative weadsiof the U.S. dollar on our European Union eermdinated cost
base and higher personnel-related costs. In addigsearch and development expenses have been tigher to
support this expanding business increasing by §ill®n or 15% between the corresponding periods.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe year on year increase of 3% was spread adresadrkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 5%), EMEA (down 1%) and ASPAC (up 28%)is growth was due to volume (up 2 percentagetpo
and the favorable impact of exchange rates (up@péage points) offset by price and product mowd 1
percentage point).

* Americas delivered strong sales of fragrance amsioopal care products. Growth was focused in vol(upel ]
percentage points) offset by a poorer price andymbmix (down 4 percentage points) and the unfaivier
impact of exchange rates (down 2 percentage po

 EMEA sales declined marginally despite the favaatvipact of exchange rates (up 5 percentage p@ntsg
richer price and product mix (up 2 percentage gdiotfset by lower volume (down 8 percentage pgints
Strong personal care and polymer product sales @féset by lower household, industrial and instdogl
product sales

* Our ASPAC business currently represents less th&n df our overall Active Chemicals business reftex
the early stage of its development. Notwithstandimg, sales benefited from higher volumes (up 25
percentage points) in fragrance, personal cargalythers products. This increase was assistededy th
favorable impact of exchange rates (up 1 percergagd) and a richer price and product mix (up Ecpatage
points).

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 9.4 percentage po#ftsats price and product mix, primarily in respett
the greater proportion in 2008 of lower margin pogy sales, the
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significant increase in raw material and energysesffered across all the markets in which we ageiand the
adverse impact from lower utilization and manufaoty efficiencies in our U.S. and United Kingdonapis.

Operating expenseghe year on year decrease in operating expense$M@snillion or 6%. This decrease was
achieved despite the 3% sales growth primarilytddewer personnel-related costs.

Octane Additives

Net salesnet sales and volumes both declined 35% in linh thi¢ historic decline in this business. The declin
reflected a marginally poorer sales mix despite enag price increases in 2008. In both 2008 and 2ales were
focused in the Middle East and Africa.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease in gross margin wasescemtage points. Following the settlement regar
the TMAs effective April 1, 2007 the profit sharéhvEthyl from this business which was charged mittost of
goods sold has ceased. The cessation of the TMdswaderate price increases achieved in 2008 hawedialy
impacted gross margin and limited the adverse itnpiaihe marginally poorer sales mix and lower Tigbduction
volumes on the fixed cost base of the manufactusitegat Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of legal and other profesdiexgenses of $15.5 million and $4.6 million
2008 and 2007, respectively, relating to the QilFood Program and related investigations, the gagrear decrease
in operating expenses was $2.3 million or 23% prilpnén respect of reduced selling costs.

Other Income Statement Captions

FAS 158/87 pension (charge¢his non-cash charge reduced by $2.3 million bezsawsike 2007, there was no
amortization of net actuarial losses required.

Corporate costsyear on year corporate costs increased $2.9 millimnto the expensing of $3.9 million of advisory
and financing costs related to two large potemttgjuisitions that the Company is now not pursuirgs was offset to
some extent, in the latter months of 2008, by #wefable impact of the relative strength of the.ld@&lar on our
predominantly British pound sterling cost base.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs are comprised of the following:

(in millions) 2008 2007
Reduction in EMEA headcou $0.7 $04
United Kingdom site clearant 0.€ 1.2
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesiléze Port sit 0.2 0.8
U.S. site clearanc 0.2 —
Reduction in Americas headcol 0.2 —
Additional payments in respect of the former C — 0.1
Sundry other restructurir — 0.t
$21 $3.C
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Amortization of intangible assetthe amortization charge has declined by a net $@l®n from $16.9 million to $7..
million. Of this reduction, $10.0 million is due toe absence of the Veritel intangible asset amatitin charge in
2008 since it was fully amortized as at DecembeR80D7. This reduction has been offset by a $0lkomincrease in
amortization costs related to the Ethyl intangdset effective April 1, 2007.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2008 charge was lower than that recognize @@ primarily
due to the higher operating income and associaskl ftows in 2007. Effective October 1, 2008 weehagdated the
estimates used in the detailed forecast modelltnlede impairment charges to reflect the Compaeytended
estimate for the future life of our Octane Addisvausiness from December 31, 2010 to December(32. 2

Profit on disposalin May 2008 the Company recognized $0.4 millionfipfollowing the disposal of surplus U.S. r¢
estate.

Interest expense (nethe net interest charge decreased by $1.6 milliid0D8 to $5.4 million. This was despite the
fact that average net debt increased by approxiynddemillion between the corresponding periodsrfr$67 million
to $71 million. This decrease primarily reflects flact that U.S. base interest rates declined lestee correspondir
periods and a $0.6 million reduction in the defeérieance costs amortization charge.

Other net (expense)/incoma:2008 other net expense of $19.3 million reldtedet foreign exchange losses of $19.0
million and net sundry other expenses of $0.3 amilliThe net foreign exchange losses related te$oss foreign
currency forward exchange contracts and lossesaslation of net assets in our European businfegs$27 million

and $6.3 million, respectively. In 2007 other metame comprised $7.5 million in respect of netifgmexchange

gains offset by $0.6 million of other sundry expesisThe net foreign exchange gains related to $amsdoreign
currency forward exchange contracts and gainsamsiation of net assets in our European busine$8.@fmillion an
$8.2 million, respectively.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for inmpeant of Octane Additives business goodwill and
accordingly we believe that the change in the &ffeqdate of tax to 33.5% in 2008 from 38.2% in 20§ best
explained by adjusting for this non-deductible gearThis adjusted effective tax rate has decreagegercentage
points between the corresponding periods primdiily to the positive impact of taxable profits iffetient
geographical locations partially offset by foreignome inclusions.

(in millions) 2008 2007
Income before income tax @ E
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyull 3.7 12.1
$228 850
Income taxe: E @
Adjusted effective tax rat E% E%
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2007 compared to &l 2006:

Change
(in millions except ratios) 2007 2006
Net sales
Fuel Specialtie $ 374.€ $311.c $ 63.2 +2C%
Active Chemicals 133.¢ 120.4 13.2 +11%
Octane Additive: 94.C 100.< (6.4) -6%

$ 602. $ 532.1 $ 70.5 +13%

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $124.7 $ 106.2 $ 18.5 +17%

Active Chemicals 24.¢ 22.7 1.6 +8%

Octane Additive: 48.1 57.¢ (9.7) -17%
$197. $ 186.7 $ 10.7 +6%

Gross margin (%)

Fuel Specialtie 33.3 34.1 -0.8

Active Chemicals 18.4 18.9 -0.5

Octane Additive: 51.2 57.6 -6.4

Aggregate 32.8 35.1 -2.3

Operating expense:

Fuel Specialtie $(9.00) $(9.° $ 0.2 -1%

Active Chemicals (17.7) (15.5) (1.€) +1C%

Octane Additive: (14.¢) (13.2) (1.€) +12%

FAS 158/87 pension (charg (4.6 — (4.€) +10(%

Corporate cost (22.0) (22.]) 0.1 -0%
$(117.5)  $(110.) % (7.9 +7%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe year on year increase of 20% was spread aitressarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 25%), EMEA (up 12%), ASPAC (up 199l &vtel (up 44%). This growth was due to volume {i4p
percentage points) and the favorable impact of &xgh rates (up 6 percentage points).

* Americas benefited from strong sales of lubricitggucts, cetane number improvers and corrosiofians.
Growth was focused in volume (up 15 percentagetppand price and product mix (up 10 percentagetpp

» Europe, Middle East and Africa (‘EMEA”) benefiteam strong sales of performance and refinery prtsduc
Growth was focused in volume (up 6 percentage pparid the favorable impact of exchange rates 8up 1
percentage points) offset by price and product (@own 7 percentage points). Net sales increased 21%
excluding the impact of a o-off contract in 2006 that did not recur in 20
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» Asia Pacific “ASPAC”") benefited from strong sales of marine productsw@ravas focused in volume (up
percentage points) and the favorable impact of &xgh rates (up 1 percentage point) offset by amck
product mix (down 18 percentage poin

* The TEL for use in aviation gasolin“Avtel”) business growth was due to volume (up 21 percenmaiges)
and price (up 23 percentage points). The results wesitively impacted by the more favorable pgcin
allowed, and the volumes to be sold, under the|Egilement

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.8 percentage pogftsated both the lower proportion of higher margin
Avtel sales together with the adverse impact ofdoWEL production volumes on the fixed cost basthef
manufacturing site at Ellesmere Port, United Kingd&ross margins in the remainder of the marketeaneed largel
constant as we successfully passed raw matered prcreases onto our customers.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of $7.1 million of one-timeofassional fees and a customer claim incurred
in 2006 the year on year increase in operating resgewas $6.8 million or 13%. The underlying 13¢sease was
less than the 20% sales growth as we continuesl/eydge the infrastructure of this business.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe year on year increase of 11% was spread aitre@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 12%), EMEA (up 12%) and ASPAC (up 4%)is growth was due to volume (up 4 percentagetppi
the favorable impact of exchange rates (up 6 pé&rgerpoints) and price and product mix (up 1 pasgpoints).

* Americas benefited from strong sales of persona aad fragrance products accounting for $2.4 omland
$3.7 million of the growth, respectively. This waféset by a $1.0 million reduction in our custom
manufacturing revenues primarily due to the slowmlan the U.S. construction industi

¢ EMEA primarily benefited from strong polymer saleBich increased $7.3 million year on year. Thereewe
also stronger sales in respect of our fragrancsmess

* Our ASPAC business represented less than 10% afwauall Active Chemicals business reflecting
embryonic stage of its development. Notwithstandimg, sales were driven higher by the strong perémce
in polymer and fragrance products consistent withather geographical regior

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.5 percentage pogilksated our strategy in the latter half of 2007 to
reduce inventories and release cash by loweringgduction volumes. This had the short term impdetdversely
impacting unit manufacturing costs and margins.

Operating expensehe year on year increase of 10% was due to theragvmpact of exchange rates (up 6
percentage points) and inflation (up 4 percentaetg). The 10% increase was less than the 119% gabsvth as we
continued to leverage the infrastructure of thisibess.
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Octane Additives

Net sales2006 benefited from the release of a retrospegtiidng provision which contributed $6.6 million tet
sales and $4.5 million to operating income. Exalgdihe impact of this release net sales were conhdéspite
volumes declining 5%. This reflected a richer sat®s and moderate price increases in 2007. In B6OYV and 2006
sales were focused in the Middle East and Africa.

Gross marginthe year on year decline was 6.4 percentage p&mrtduding the impact of the release of a
retrospective pricing provision in 2006 the yearyear decline was 5.6 percentage points. Followhegsettlement
regarding the TMAs effective April 1, 2007 the pteshare with Ethyl from this business which waarged within
cost of goods sold had ceased. The cessation diMiAes, together with the richer sales mix and madieprice
increases achieved in 2007, favorably impactedsgmuargin and limited the adverse impact of lowek PEoduction
volumes on the fixed cost base of the manufactwsitggat Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of $4.6 million of legal exges and accruals, related to the SEC’s
investigation of the United Nations Oil for FoodBram incurred in 2007 or to be incurred in 2008, year on year
decrease in operating expenses was $3.0 milli@3%. The majority of the savings were made in retspkthe wind
down of the French and South African sales offemed a headcount reduction within sales.

Other Income Statement Captions

FAS 158/87 pension (chargewe were required to recognize a non-cash char§d.6fmillion in 2007 primarily in
respect of the amortization of net actuarial losBiessimilar charge was required to be recognine2D06.

Corporate costsyear on year corporate costs declined $0.1 mitliespite the adverse impact of the relative weaknes
of the U.S. dollar on a predominantly British poisterling cost base due to savings generated ii. Z0& savings
resulted from lower professional fees since 20@6uated costs incurred following the Company’s shitc the

Nasdaq Stock Market on March 21, 2006 and namegehan January 30, 20C

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs were comprised of the following

(in millions) 2007 2006
United Kingdom site clearant $1.2 $14
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesiléze Port sit 0.6 0.2
Reduction in Active Chemicals United Kingdom headt 0.4 —
Additional payments in respect of the former C 0.1 0.€
Cost reduction program on the United Kingdom Octadditives site — 1.€
Relocation and closure costs of a U.S. Active Cleatmisite — 0.4
Sundry other restructurir 0.t 0.2
$3.C $4-E
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Amortization of intangible assetthe increased amortization expense of $4.2 millio2007 related to the intangible
asset recognized in respect of the payment to Bthhith represented Ethyl foregoing their entitlet® a share of
the future income stream under the TMAs effectiyeilAL, 2007. The amount attributed to the Octagifives
business segment was being amortized straightdibecember 31, 2010 and the amount attributeded-tiel
Specialties business segment was being amortizadlgtline to December 31, 2017.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2006 charge was higher than that recogniz@07 primarily
due to the higher operating income and associatsl ftows in 2006. Since the end of 2006, we upbtite estimates
used in the detailed forecast model to calculagartipairment charges to include effective AprieQ07 the fact that
we would no longer be sharing with Ethyl the pmfiom the sale of TEL outside North America.

Interest expense (nethe net interest charge increased moderately (&/&0lion in 2007 to $7.0 million. This was
primarily due to 2006 including the receipt of $@élion interest previously charged on a tax balgroffset by the
fact that average net debt fell by approximatel® 8iillion between the corresponding periods frori $llion to
$67 million.

Other net (expense)/incoma:2007 other net income comprised $7.5 milliomaapect of net foreign exchange gains
offset by $0.6 million of other sundry expenses20®6 other net income comprised $7.6 million ispext of net
foreign exchange gains offset by $0.8 million dietsundry expenses.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for inmpeant of Octane Additives business goodwill and
accordingly we believed that the change in thecéffe rate of tax to 38.2% in 2007 from 64.2% iD@Qvas best
explained by adjusting for this non-deductible geaiThis adjusted effective tax rate increaseg8réentage points
between the corresponding periods primarily dudéoorigin of profits and the continued increaseafifability of our
U.S. based Fuel Specialties business which incuhedtandard federal tax rate of 35%, togethdr stite taxes,
offset by the favorable conclusion of some histtaiic matters.

(in millions) 2007 2006
Income before income tax E @
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyall 12.1 36.7
$50E 868
Income taxe: E @
Adjusted effective tax rat E% E%
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

(in millions) 2008 2007

Total current asse $ 256.€ $ 256.]
Total current liabilities (188.1) (160.7%)
Working capital 68.5 95.4
Less prepaid income tax (10.7) —

Less cash and cash equivale (13.9) (24.9)
Add back accrued income tax — 6.C
Add back sho-term borrowinc 73.C 20.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provis 4.1 4.4
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bea 9.2 12.€
Add back current portion of deferred inco 0.1 0.1
Add back current portion of deferred income ta — 0.1
Adjusted working capite $130.¢ $ 115.

At December 31, 2008, we had adjusted working abpft$130.9 million (defined by the Company ascaots
receivable, inventories, prepaid expenses, accqaysble and accrued liabilities rather than totakent assets less
total current liabilities). In 2008 our adjustednking capital increased by $15.7 million. The $lion decrease in
accounts receivable and prepaid expenses was tbouden our Active Chemicals business mainly refieg the
sales decline in our polymers business towardsttleof the fourth quarter in 2008. The $5.7 millinarease in
inventories was focused in our growth Fuel Speemlusiness following the decision to build cerfaioduct
inventories of strategic importance. The $14.9ionlldecrease in accounts payable and accruedtiedbileflects the
release of $6.3 million of contract related promis no longer deemed necessary which have beeat affainst the
related intangible asset and lower personnel-relateruals.

Cash
At December 31, 2008 and 2007 we had cash andecastalents of $13.9 million and $24.3 million, pestively.
45



Table of Contents

Debt

At December 31, 2008 we had a finance facility wtpeovided for borrowings by us of up to $155 roiliincluding ¢
term loan of $55 million and revolving credit fatjilof $100 million. As of December 31, 2008, ther@pany had
$73.0 million of debt outstanding under this finariacility and was in compliance with all financ@venants thereil
The debt maturity profile as at December 31, 20@8uding the principal facility, is set out below:

(in millions)

2009 $73.C

2010 T
73.C

Current portion of lon-term debr 73.C

Long-term debt, net of current portic $—

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyreance facility which provides for borrowings g of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 millioma@ revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. The term loanpsyable as follow
$10 million is due on February 5, 2010; $15 millmm February 7, 2011; and $25 million on Februgr2@.2. This
new finance facility replaced the previous finafeality which was in place at December 31, 2008.

The Company’s new finance facility contains resiree clauses which may constrain our activities fmat our
operational and financial flexibility. The new fhiyi obliges the lenders to comply with a requesttilization of
finance unless there is an event of default oudistan Events of default are defined in the finafas®lity and include
material adverse change to our business, propeasssts, financial condition or results of operai The new facilit
contains a number of restrictions that limit oulligh amongst other things, and subject to certeimted exceptions,
to incur additional indebtedness, pledge our assetecurity, guarantee obligations of third paytieake investments,
undergo a merger or consolidation, dispose of assetnaterially change our line of business.

In addition, the new facility also contains termisiet, if breached, would result in the loan becapmepayable on
demand. It requires, among other matters, commiavith two financial covenant ratios. These ratios (1) the ratio
of net debt to EBITDA and (2) the ratio of net metst to EBITDA. EBITDA is a non U.S. GAAP measufdiguidity
defined in the finance facility.

Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits

Effective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adopteziprovisions of FAS 15&mployers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pl. FAS 158 requires that the funded status of ddfimenefit
postretirement plans be recognized on the Compamyisolidated balance sheets, and changes innlkedwstatus be
reflected in comprehensive
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income. FAS 158 also requires the measurementod#te plan’s funded status to be the same as tingp@nys fisca
year-end. Although the measurement date provisas ot required to be adopted until fiscal year82b@ Company
early-adopted this provision for fiscal year 2006e effect of applying FAS 158 was to record altaeuction to
equity through recognition in other comprehensosslof $97.0 million on an after-tax basis.

Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2008 and the effect of those obbgaton future
cash flows:-

Less than : 1to3 Over 5
Years 4t05

(in millions) Total year years years
Long-term debt obligation $73.C $ 73.C $— $— $—
Interest payments on de 2.C 2.C — — —
Planned funding of pension obligatic 28.¢ 5.8 11.5 11.5 —
Remediation paymen 21.1 2.2 7.C 1.2 10.7
Severance paymer 0.t 0.t — — —
Raw material purchase obligatic 7.4 7.4 — — —
Operating lease commitmer 6.€ 1.t 2.2 1.C 2.1
Capital commitment 1.4 1.4 — — —
Total $141.1 $ 93.6 $20.6  $13.7  $12.¢

At December 31, 2008 long-term debt comprised aritiiton term loan and $18 million drawn under tleolving
credit facility. At the same date long-term debligdtions represented scheduled term loan repaysvart amounts
drawn under the revolving credit facility to be agpwhen the previous financing facility was duexpire on June 1
2009.

The Company was subject to interest at variabksran certain elements of its long-term debt. Bienated
payments included in the table above assume aamnstS. base interest rate of 0.5% on the maanfie facility.
Estimated commitment fees are also included amuast income is excluded.

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyrence facility which provides for borrowings lng of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 millioma revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. The term loanpsyable as follow
$10 million is due on February 5, 2010; $15 millmm February 7, 2011; and $25 million on Februar2@.2. This
new finance facility replaced the previous finafmality which was in place at December 31, 2008.

The amounts related to the pension plan referdadikiely levels of Company funding of the Unitednigdom
contributory defined benefit pension plan and ¢enension commitments to senior employees. Ibistmeaningful t
predict an amount after five years since therenareerous uncertainties including future return ssess, pay
escalation, pension increases, inflation and enmpéoyt levels.
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Remediation payments represent those cash flowsht& ompany is currently obligated to pay in sxgmf current
and former facilities. It does not include any detionary remediation costs that the Company maysé to incur.

Severance payments represent those cash flonthéh@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs recognized under the conditions of FAS B&8punting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgdsctivities,
and FAS 112Employers’ Accounting for Post employment Benefits

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettmg-term raw material contracts which have be#ered into by
the Company that stipulate fixed or minimum quéagito be purchased; fixed, minimum, or variabiegprovisions;
and the approximate timing of the transaction. Rase obligations exclude agreements that are dableelithout
penalty.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily ticefépace, motor vehicles and items of office eapaipt which are
expected to be renewed and replaced in the norooase of business.

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.

Due to uncertainty regarding the completion ofdarlits and possible outcomes the estimate of diigarelated to
unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made. Furikelodure is provided in Note 6 of the Notes toG@mnsolidated
Financial Statements.

Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

The Company is subject to environmental laws ir&the countries in which it operates. Under dgeréanvironmental
laws the Company is responsible for the remediadfdmazardous substances or wastes at currentbroerly owned
or operated properties.

Most of our manufacturing operations have been gotedl outside the U.S. and, therefore, any lighértaining to
the investigation and remediation of contaminatexgperties is likely to be determined under non-Ua&.

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminatimhdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fugion is made
for those costs to which we are committed undeirenmental laws. Full provision has been made lierdcommitted
costs of $25.1 million at December 31, 2008. Exjiteinel against provisions was $1.6 million, $1.7lioil and $1.3
million in the years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respebtiv

We have also incurred personnel severance costation to the management of the decline in thiea@e Additives
market and the restructuring of the Fuel SpecmHtied Active Chemicals businesses. Total sevemxmenditure was
$1.6 million, $2.0 million, $7.0 million in the yea2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Provisianasle for severan
costs under the conditions of FAS 146 and FAS 112.
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ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company operates manufacturing and blendinbities; offices and laboratories around the wotlthugh the
largest manufacturing facility is located in theitdd Kingdom. The Company sells a range of FuetBitees, Active
Chemicals and Octane Additives to customers artuimavorld. The Company uses floating rate debintanfce these
global operations. Consequently, the Company igestito business risks inherent in non-U.S. aaéisjtincluding
political and economic uncertainty, import and expionitations, and market risk related to changemterest rates
and foreign exchange rates. The political and esonoisks are mitigated by the stability of the nties in which the
Company’s largest operations are located. Craditdj ongoing credit evaluation and account momtpprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interast savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydodvexchanc
contracts, in the normal course of business to ganaarket risks. The derivatives used in hedgiriyities are
considered risk management tools and are not usdchtling purposes. In addition, the Company entép
derivative instruments with a diversified groupnedjor financial institutions in order to monitoetlexposure to non-
performance of such instruments. The Company’sabilvgein managing exposure to changes in inteedssris to
limit the impact of such changes on earnings asti iaws and to lower overall borrowing costs. TBwmpany’s
objective in managing the exposure to changesrgign exchange rates is to reduce volatility omiegs and cash
flows associated with such changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing costs and rawnmaé are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigyss to hedge the price of some raw materialsréniscing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The derivesi are considered risk management tools and aresad for
trading purposes. The Company’s objective is toagarits exposure to fluctuating prices of raw malker

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest swaps to manage intatestxposure. As of December 31, 2008 the Compadycash
and cash equivalents of $13.9 million, no bank dradt and long-term debt of $73.0 million. The letegm debt
comprised $55.0 million senior term loan and $18illion revolving credit.

In 2005 the Company entered into interest swapeageats to convert floating rate debt to fixed tat cover $50.0
million of the remaining long-term debt (includiogrrent portion) as at December 31, 2008 of $73llom On the
basis that $50.0 million of the $73.0 million loterm debt (including current portion) is hedgediagfanterest
movements and that the Company would receive isttere the $13.9 million positive cash balances; the interest
payable on unhedged debt of $23.0 million is largdiset by the interest receivable on positivehdaalances which
have a similar maturity profile. On a gross baassuming no additional interest on the cash batarchypothetical
absolute change of 1% in U.S. base interest ratdseogross amount of these balances of $23.0omiltr a one-year
period would impact net income and cash flows hQyraximately $0.2 million before tax.
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The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action
to mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuemamrs some operating costs in currencies ottar the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company i thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency ofi @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in whict
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gommperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the marketwhich they operate. In addition, the finangasition and resul
of operations of some of our foreign subsidiariesraported in the relevant local currency and tn@nslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehatge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro and
British pound sterling. Changes in exchange ra¢éséen these foreign currencies and the U.S. dellhaffect the
recorded levels of our assets and liabilitieshtdxtent such figures reflect the inclusion oéfgn assets and
liabilities that are translated into U.S. dollaps presentation in our financial statements, as$ agebur results of
operations.

The Company’s objective in managing exposure teifr currency fluctuations is to reduce earnings @sh flow
volatility associated with foreign currency rateaoges. Accordingly, the Company enters into varamrgracts that
change in value as foreign exchange rates chang®tect the U.S. dollar value of its existing figrecurrency-
denominated assets, liabilities, commitments, asth dlows. The Company also uses foreign curreoydrd
exchange contracts to offset a portion of the Camiseexposure to certain foreign currency-denongdatvenues so
that gains and losses on these contracts offsagelsan the U.S. dollar value of the related faneigrrency-
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiagram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vdiatiélated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our three business segments is émtigrnaturally hedged and accordingly changexamange rates
would not be material to our earnings or finanpasition. Corporate costs however are largely denatad in British
pound sterling. A 5% strengthening in the U.S.aodlgainst British pound sterling would increagmrted operating
income by approximately $1.1 million excluding ihgact of any foreign currency forward exchangetiamts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has losed as an illustration, a 5% weakening wouldxpected to
have the opposite effect on operating income.
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Raw Material Price Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amaggnin our manufacturing and blending processesWof the ray
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrbigsed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant price instability. These fluctuatiomsprice can be caused by political instability inppoducing nations
and elsewhere, or other factors influencing glaogply and demand over which we have no or litietiol. Innospe:
has entered hedging arrangements for certain raerialg, but does not typically enter into hedgamgangements for
all raw materials, chemicals or energy costs. Shoasts of raw materials, chemicals or energy asgeand should
Innospec’s businesses not be able to pass onc¢hsseicreases to our customers, then operatinginsaand cash
flows from operating activities would be adversiehpacted. Should raw material prices increase sggmitly, then th
Companys need for working capital could increase which M@adversely impact cash flows from operating an#s.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfingn
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statemieintsome,
stockholdersequity and cash flows present fairly, in all matkrespects, the financial position of Innospec & it:
subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and Decemb&0BT, and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for
each of the three years in the period ended DeaeBih@008 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsounapinion, the Company maintained, in all matergspects,
effective internal control over financial reporting of December 31, 2008, based on criteria estedaliininternal
Control—Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission
(COSO0). The Company’s management is responsiblgése financial statements, for maintaining effecinternal
control over financial reporting and for its asseest of the effectiveness of internal control dfieancial reporting,
included in “Management’s Report On Internal Con®weer Financial Reporting” appearing in ltem 9Atbis Form
10-K. Our responsibility is to express opinionstbese financial statements and on the Companyésriat control
over financial reporting based on our integrateditau\We conducted our audits in accordance wighstandards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BaiStates). Those standards require that we ppenform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance abouhertibe financial statements are free of matemiaktatement and
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udits of the
financial statements included examining, on altasts, evidence supporting the amounts and digelssu the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiplas used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and
evaluating the overall financial statement predertaOur audit of internal control over financraporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugancial reporting, assessing the risk that aematweakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design gedating effectiveness of internal control basedhenassessed risk.
Our audits also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circuoestawe
believe that our audits provide a reasonable asisur opinions.

As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Findstatements, the Company changed the manner ichvithi
accounts for defined benefit pension plans on adomf FAS 158 Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plg, effective December 31, 2006, and uncertain taitjpms on adoption of Fll
48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesffective January 1, 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass

the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsois accordance wi
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsmmgernal control over financial reporting inckeglthose policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenafcecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately
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and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiohthe assets of the company; (ii) provide reabtenassurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepéagation of financial statements in accordanch generally
accepted accounting principles, and that recemdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance
with authorizations of management and directothefcompany; and (iii) provide reasonable assurasgarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized astjon, use, or disposition of the compasi@ssets that could hav
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaiver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrmds may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 20, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in_millions, except per share datg

Net sales (Note &
Cost of goods sol

Gross profit (Note 3

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developme
Restructuring charg
Amortization of intangible asse
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{&\8)
Profit on disposals, net (Note 1

Operating income (Note .
Other net (expense)/incor
Interest expens
Interest incom

Income before income taxes and minority inte
Minority interest

Income before income tax
Income taxes (Note °

Net income

Earnings per share (Note
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thous&Nd¢ 5)
Basic

Diluted

Dividend declared per common sh.

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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Years ended December 3

2008

$ 640.F
(454.))

186.4

(115.9)
(14.5)
(2.1)
(7.4)
(3.7)
0.4

(142.9)

43.€

23,59t

24,39

$ 0.1C

2007 2006
$ 602. $ 532.1
(405.0) (345.9)
197.2 186.
(103.9) (99.0)
(13.6) (11.1)
(3.0) (4.E)
(16.9) (12.9)
(12.1) (36.7)
— 9.2
(149.5) (154.9)
47.¢ 31.¢
6. 6.
(9.5) (12.9)
2. 5.3
47. 31.¢
(0.1) (0.)
47.7 31.¢
(18.9) (20.4)
$ 29F $ 11.
$ 1.2 $ 0.47
$ 1.1¢ $ 0.4t
23,92( 24,14
24,83 25,33
$ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in_millions, except per share datg

Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable (less allowance of $2.8 an@,$2spectively
Inventories
Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw materialt

Total inventories
Prepaid expenst
Prepaid income taxce

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment (Note
Goodwill - Octane Additives (Note ¢
Gooduwill - Other (Note 8

Intangible assets (Note

Pension asset (Note

Deferred finance costs (Note 1
Deferred income taxes (Note

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity

Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxe
Shor-term borrowing (Note 12
Current portion of plant closure provisions (Nog)
Current portion of unrecognized tax benefits (NOt
Current portion of deferred income (Note :
Current portion of deferred income taxes (Not

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note :

Plant closure provisions, net of current portiomid12)
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current portidoté 7)
Deferred income taxes, net of current portion (NOt
Pension liability (Note 6

Other nor-current liabilities

Deferred income, net of current portion (Note
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder Equity (Note 15)

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authori

40,000,000 shares, issued 29,554,500 st

Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock (5,956,384 and 5,777,417 sharessatrespectively
Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive |

Total stockholdel equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

At December 31

2008 2007
$ 13.¢ $ 24.:
89.¢ 942
95.C 100.2
2.0 12.€
412 19.€
138.: 132.6€
4.4 5.C
10.1 —
256.¢€ 256.1
53.E 66.2
9.0 12.7
139. 139.1
28.2 41.¢
— 34.6
0.5 0.3
7.2 —
$ 494.: $551.1
$ 55.4 $ 50.¢
46.: 65.7
— 6.9
73.C 20.C
4.1 4.4
9.2 12.€
0.1 0.1
— 0.1
188.1 160.7
— 61.C
22.€ 22.4
25.€ 27.4
— 7.3
13.€ —
13.€ —
0.8 0.8
0.3 0.3
282.F 280.¢
(64.5) (58.2)
131.€ 121.F
(120.2) (72.7)
229. 271.F
$ 494.% $551.1



The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)
Years ended December 3
2008 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ 12.¢ $ 29t $ 114
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic 23.C 31.: 27.4

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{&I8) 3.7 12.1 36.7

Deferred income taxe (1.2 (4.€) (2.0

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant andipgent (0.9 — (9.2

Non-cash intangible assets other adjustm 6.3 — —
Changes in working capite

Accounts receivable and prepaid exper 2.3 (14.5 (11.7

Inventories (8.6) (22.0 (21.0

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (9.9 12.4 (7.9
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages (2.5 (0.2 —
Income taxes and other current liabilit (17.2) (3.5 20.€
Movement on plant closure provisio 0.2 (2.3 (3.9
Movement on pension asset/(liabili (5.7 (2.9 (3.0
Stock option compensation chai 4.1 3.3 1.€
Movements on other n-current liabilities 7.C 0.1 (2.0
Movement on deferred incon — 2.3 (2.0
Net cash provided by operating activit 14.4 47.¢ 36.4
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (9.2 (12.2) (7.€)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipmet 1.3 — 9.€
Acquisition of intangible asset (Note — (28.9) —
Disposal of unconsolidated investmi — — 2.€
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activi (7.9 (40.€) 4.€
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Net receipt/(repayment) of revolving credit fagil 12.C (52.0 18.C
Repayment of term log (20.0 (15.0 (10.0
Payments on capital leas — (0.2) (0.2
Refinancing cost (0.9 — (0.5)
Dividend paid (2.9 (2.2) (2.9
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraeges 2.5 0.2 —
Issue of treasury stoc 1.¢ 4.1 3.C
Repurchase of common sta (10.5) (20.0 (15.¢
Minority interest dividends (paic (0.2) (0.2 (0.2
Net cash (used in) financing activiti (17.0 (85.]) (7.4
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — 0.2 (0.6)
Net change in cash and cash equival (10.4 (77.€) 33.C
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 24.% 101.¢ 68.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 13.C $ 24.: $ 101.¢

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $0.5 il (2007 — $1.1 million, 2006 — $1.1 million) fire year are included in depreciation and
amortization in the cash flow statement but inries¢ in the income statement. Cash payments/radeipespect of income taxes and interest
are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 13, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in_millions)

Accumulated

Additional Retainec Other Total
Common Treasury ) Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Earnings
Stock Capital Stock Loss Equity
December 31, 20C $ 0.1 $ 276.C $ (32.0 $ 884 $ (18.9) $ 314.4
Net income — — — 11.4 — 11.4
Dividend ($0.08
per share}? — — — 1.9 — (1.9
Net CTA changé? — — — — 5.C 5.C
Derivatives® — — — — 0.2 0.3
Treasury stock ~issued — 0.1 2.8 — — 3.C
Treasury stock repurchas — — (15.6€ — — (15.6€
Stock option compensation
charge® — 5.4 — — — 5.4
Adjustment for initially
applying FAS 15¢ — — — — (138.5) (138.5)
Tax impact on adjustment
for initially applying
FAS 158 — — — — 41t 41
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ 2817 $ (449 $ 97.¢ $ (110.0 $ 225.(
Net income — — — 29.t — 29.t
Dividend ($0.09
per share}? — — — (2.2 — (2.2)
Derivatives® — — — — (0.€ (0.9
Treasury stock ~issued — (0.6) 6.5 — — 5.9
Treasury stock repurchas — — (20.0 — — (20.0
Stock option compensatia
charge — (0.3 — — — (0.3
Two-for-one common stoc
split ) 0.2 (0.2) — — — _
Cumulative effect of
adoption of FIN 48
(Note 7) — — — (3.0 — (3.3
Amortization of net
actuarial losses (Note — — — (2.0 2.C —
Tax impact on amortizatio
of net actuarial losse — — — 0.€ (0.6) —
Actuarial net gains arising
during the year (Note ¢ — — — — 55.C 55.C
Tax impact on actuarial ne
gains arising during the
year — — — (2.0 (15.9 (17.9
Deferred taxe®) — — — 2.8 (2.9 —
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.2 $ 280.t $ (58.9 $ 121F $ (72.7) $ 271k
Net income — — — 12.t — 12.t
Dividend
($0.10 per shargy — — — (2.4 — (2.9
Net CTA chang# — — — — (15.¢) (15.¢)
Derivatives® — — — — (0.9 (0.9
Treasury stock rissued — (0.9 3.8 — — 3.4
Treasury stock repurchas — — (20.5) — — (20.5)
Stock option compensation
charge — 2.3 — — — 2.3

Actuarial net losses arisin



during the year (Note ¢

Tax benefit on actuarial net
losses arising during the
year

Balance at December 31, 2C

_ _ — _ (42.9) (42.9)
— — — — 12. 12.¢
$ 03 $ 282F $ (649 $ 1316 $ (1202  $ 229.2
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(1) On June 18, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had approved a 2-for-1 stodk gpbe effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineadpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders inexgk one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricestifiese options were halved to reflect the stk §he table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg

(2) Changes in cumulative translation adjustm

(3) Changes in unrealized gains/ (losses) on derivatsteuments, net of ta

(4) Following adoption of FAS 123R effective Januar 2006 a stock option liability of $3.0 milli@tcrued under APB 25 was reclassified
to Additional Pai-In Capital.

(5) Impact on deferred taxes of a change in the ageakciax rate on the unrecognized actuarial neeke$ $138.5 million ($97.0 million n
of deferred taxes) previousrecognized in other comprehensive I

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INC OME

(in millions)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the years ead December 31 2008 2007 2006
Net income for the ye¢ $12:¢ $29.5 $11.4
Changes in cumulative translation adjustn (15.9 — 5.C
Unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative instrumems of tax (0.9 (0.9 0.3
Amortization of net actuarial losses, net of taX$0f6 million — 1.4 —
Actuarial net (losses)/gains arising during theryeat of tax (30.9) 39.€ —
Total comprehensive (loss)/incor $(35.0) $69.€  $16.7
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended December 31 2008 2007 2006
Cumulative translation adjustme $ (29.2 $(13.9) $ (139
Unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative instrumeams of tax of $0.6 million, $0.2 million and $0.2

million, respectively (1.9 (0.5 0.4
Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax df B#&illion, $22.7 million and $41.5 million,

respectively (89.6€) (58.9) (97.0
Accumulated other comprehensive I $(120.2) $(72.7) $(110.0)

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteeggements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtledtadditives and other specialty chemicals. Qroducts are
sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemiaald industrial companies throughout the world. fDet additives
help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfono@and reduce harmful emissions. Our specialtynatads provide
effective technology-based solutions for our cugisiprocesses or products focused in the Personal Bateseholc
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredemarkets. Principal product lines and reportablgments are Fuel
Specialties, Active Chemicals and Octane Additives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.
See Note 9 for the accounting in respect of saldsw@arketing agreements with Ethyl.

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholdafrsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyealnon that date. The shares were distributed gn2Dyl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exeegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Thasolidated financial statements have been pawely adjusted
for this stock split.

Note 2.  Accounting Policies

Basis of PreparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Arwernd include all subsidiaries of the Company wiiee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have baamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted feparchases and the results of operations of tipgirecl businesses
are included in the consolidated financial stateisé&om the date of acquisition. The results otdiginued

operations are shown separately in the incomenstate

Use of Estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial statets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Ar&rrequires management to make estimates and pissnsithat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahional statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould
differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three rherir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Accounts ReceivablThe Company records accounts receivable at netabéd value and maintains an allowance for
customers not making required payments. The Company
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

determines the adequacy of the allowance by peadigievaluating each customer receivable considesur
customer’s financial condition, credit history andrent economic conditions.

Inventories:Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hmod) or market price. Cost includes materiatsoia
and an appropriate proportion of plant overheatie. Company accrues volume discounts where it isgine that the
required volume will be attained and the amountlxaneasonably estimated. The discounts are ret@sla
reduction in the cost of materials based on pregpurchases over the period of the agreementidtyovs made for
slow-moving or obsolete inventories as appropriate.

Property, Plant and EquipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefas of the assets using the straight-line metfide cost of
additions and improvements are capitalized. Maemer and repairs are charged to expenses. Whes asssold or
retired the associated cost and accumulated depimtis removed from the consolidated financiatesnents and any
related gain or loss is included in earnings. T$tereted useful lives of the major classes of daplde assets are as
follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 year:
Equipment 3 to 10 year:

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetsoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to hal&finite lives are no
longer amortized but are subject to at least animyadirment tests based on projected post-tax tewis discounted
at the Company’s weighted average cost of cafiited. annual measurement date for impairment tesfitige
goodwill relating to the Fuel Specialties and Aeti@hemicals businesses is December 31. Octaneivaddiiusiness
goodwill is tested for impairment at the end oftegaarter. As expected the decline in the OctanditAves market
has resulted in quarterly impairment charges biagrred from the first quarter of 2004 onwardss lhighly likely
that further quarterly charges will be incurreduture years as the market continues to decline.ifipairment tests
of the goodwill relating to the Fuel SpecialtieslagActive Chemicals businesses indicated that tiseme requirement
to recognize an impairment charge in respect sfgbodwill. Other intangible assets deemed to fiaite lives
continue to be amortized using the straight-linehmeé over their estimated useful lives and testecihy potential
impairment when events occur or circumstances ahargch suggest that an impairment may have ocgurre

Deferred Finance CostThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the balance sheets
and amortized using the effective interest methaat the expected life of the debt financing fagilit

Impairment of Lon-Lived AssetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its ldimgd assets, including buildin
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstangggstthat the carrying values may be impairedrdier to
facilitate this test the Company groups togetheewsat the lowest possible level for which castvihformation is
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Undiscounted future cash flows expected to resofhfthe assets are compared with the carrying \@ltiee assets
and if they are lower an impairment loss may begezed. The amount of the impairment loss is ifferénce
between the fair value and the carrying value efabsets. Fair values are determined using post&xflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average d¢asttal.

Derivative InstrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsdireg forward currency contracts,
options, interest rate swaps and commodity swapsattage certain exposures. These instruments aeernnto
under the Company’s corporate risk managementyptbiecninimize exposure and are not for speculatiading
purposes. FAS 133\ccounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgivities, establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments aeduires that an entity recognize all derivatiae®ither assets or
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet aeésuare those instruments at fair value. Changéeifair value of
derivatives that are not designated as hedge®) notdmeet the requirements for hedge accountingmuiRAS 133, ar
recognized in earnings. Derivatives are teste@fi@ctiveness on a quarterly basis. The ineffegtimgion of the
derivative’s change in value is recognized in eayai The effective portion is recognized in othmmprehensive loss
until the hedged item is recognized in earning®e Tohmpany employs interest rate swaps which coffleating rate
debt on $50.0 million of the senior term loan tceefl rate. These have been designated as cashdidyes of the
underlying variable rate obligation. These havenltested for effectiveness using the dollar offsethod. At the end
of the term of the swap arrangements the cumulggwe or loss will be reclassified to the incomatatent. The
interest rate swaps have been recorded as a nmemttliability in the balance sheet. At December&108 the
Company had hedged the price of 3,101 metric tonhegse of its key raw materials using commodityapa. These
swaps have maturity dates between 1 and 12 monthasaat December 31 2008 the market value ofwhpsto the
Company was a loss of $1.3 million. These swapg lh@en designated as qualifying for hedge accayntinthe end
of the swap arrangements the cumulative gain arwok be reclassified to the income statement.sSEheommodity
swaps have been recorded as a non-current liainilitye balance sheet.

Environmental Compliance and RemediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing teaiance,
monitoring and similar costs. Environmental cosesaccrued when environmental assessments or rahedfdirts are
probable and the cost can be reasonably estim@ateth. accruals are adjusted as further informateveldps or
circumstances change. Costs of future obligatioeasisscounted to their present values using the amy's weighted
average cost of capital.

Revenue RecognitioThe Company supplies products to customers fromaiti®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer sitefgiua variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mmdi. In each
case revenue is recognized when the transfer af telg, which is defined and generally acceptethe standard
terms and conditions, arises between the Compathyhencustomer. Provisions for sales discountsrabates to
customers are based upon the terms of sales cen@nad are recorded in the same
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period as the related sales as a deduction froentes The Company estimates the provision for sikéesunts and
rebates based on the terms of each agreementtahthef shipping. The Company recognized the t@aénue from
Octane Additive sales under the Ethyl agreemeriits.32% compensation which was paid to Ethyl wasgeized in
cost of goods sold. A component of Ethyl's sharaeetfproceeds was an amount recoverable from Eibywas
calculated annually in arrears. The Company reaaghihis quarterly based on best current estinudttét®e expected
outcome. See Note 9 for the accounting in respesdles and marketing agreements with Ethyl.

Components of Net Sale®li amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCii@pany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of Cost of Goods Sdlabst of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcogluding inbound freight,
duty and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handlisgscassociated with the receipt of raw materiaskaging
materials, manufacturing costs including labor sostaintenance and utility costs, plant and enging®verheads,
warehousing and outbound shipping costs and handbsts. Inventory losses and provisions and thesad
customer claims are also recognized in the cogbods line item. The 32% compensation which wag fmaEthyl
was recognized in cost of goods sold (see Note thébaccounting in respect of sales and marketgrgements with
Ethyl).

Components of Selling, General and AdministratixpahsesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the diedess
force and the sales management and customer seepegtments required to support them. It also cE®p
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmerade shows, the cost of advertising and promeand the
cost of bad and doubtful debts. General and adtratiige expenses comprise the cost of support imetincluding
accounting, human resources, information technodogythe cost of group functions including corpematnagemer
finance, tax, treasury, investor relations andlldgpartments. Provision of management’s best astirof legal costs
for litigation in which the Company is involvednsade and reported in the administrative expenseitém.

Research and Development ExpenResearch, development and testing costs are expenfe income statement
as incurred.

Earnings Per ShareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share idetuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign CurrenciesThe Companys policy is that exchange differences arising @ntthnslation of the balance she
of entities that have functional currencies otlhantthe U.S. dollar are taken to a separate etpsrve, the
cumulative translation adjustment. In entities vehttre U.S. dollar is the functional currency nangasr losses on
translation occur. In these entities gains or Isgsemonetary assets relating to currencies oflaer the
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U.S. dollar are taken to the income statement. &ailosses on foreign currency transactions aladed in other net
(expense)/income in the income statement and weBrillion net loss, $8.2 million net gain and$&illion net
gain in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Share Based Compensation Plai#fective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted t@gons of FAS 123R,
Share-Based Paymenthich requires employee stock options to be acaulfdr under the fair value method.
Accordingly sharésased compensation is now measured at the granbdaéd on the fair value of the options. Pri
January 1, 2006 the Company accounted for emplsipei options using the intrinsic value method gribgd by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25ccounting for Stock Issued to Employg€@$B 25”), and related
interpretations, and provided the required pro #odisclosures prescribed by FAS 128counting for Stock-Based
Compensatiorand FAS 148Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Tramsdiod Disclosure Under APB 25,
for fixed awards, when the exercise price of empdogtock options was equal to the market priceeiinderlying
stock on the date of the grant, no compensatioeresg@was recorded. The Company adopted FAS 1288 il
modified prospective transition method. Under thethod the compensation cost recognized by the @oynp
beginning in 2006 includes (a) compensation casalicstock options granted prior to, but not yested as of
January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair \edtimated in accordance with the original provisiof FAS 123,
and (b) compensation cost for all stock optionsga subsequent to January 1, 2006, based ondhedgmte fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisidrisAS 123R. The Company uses the straigtg-attribution metho
to recognize share-based compensation costs aveetliice period of the option.

Pension Plans and Other P-Employment Benefitgffective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adoyitex
provisions of FAS 158 mployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiad &ther Postretirement PlanSAS 158
requires that the funded status of defined-bepeftretirement plans be recognized on the Compamyisolidated
balance sheets, and changes in the funded statefidted in comprehensive income. FAS 158 algaires the
measurement date of the plan’s funded status tbheébsame as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Althahgh
measurement date provision was not required tabptad until fiscal year 2008 the Company earlygaeld this
provision for fiscal year 2006. Pension plans @@anted for in accordance with FAS &mployers’ Accounting for
PensionsFAS 158,Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiod ®&ther Postretirement Plamssid FAS

88 ,Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailte@f Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Teatndm
Benefits.

Income TaxesThe Company provides for income taxes in accordanteFAS 109 Accounting for Income Taxes
FAS 109 requires the recognition of deferred tasetssand liabilities for the expected future tarsamuences of
temporary differences between the financial stateéroarrying amounts and the relevant tax basdseoassets and
liabilities. When appropriate, in accordance withS§-109, the Company evaluates the need for a waiuatiowance
to reduce deferred tax assets. FAS 109 requiretognition of future
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tax benefits to the extent that realization of shiehefits is more likely than not. The effect ofedeed taxes of a
change in tax rates is recognized in the periotitttdudes the enactment date. In July 2006, th8B-fssued
Interpretation No 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income TaxgsIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the firrstatement recognition and measurement of adaitipn taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. Income taxtipos must meet a more likely than not recognitiateria at the
adoption date to be recognized upon the adoptidtiddi48. The Company adopted FIN 48 on JanuaryQ7 &and the
provisions have been applied to all income taxtmys from that date. On adoption of FIN 48 the @amy
recognized an increase in its liability for unrexizgd tax benefits of $3.1 million which was accmahfor as an
adjustment to opening retained earnings; and rafilzaions of $21.0 million from other liabilitie$3.8 million from
deferred income taxes and $7.8 million from accrimedme taxes. The Company recognizes accruecesttand
penalties associated with uncertain tax positiangaat of income taxes in our consolidated statésna&nncome.

Note 3. Business Segment and Geographical Areat@

Innospec divides its business into three distisgnsents for both management and reporting purpéses:
Specialties, Active Chemicals and Octane Additiidee Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals busgmbsth
operate in markets where we actively seek growgodpnities albeit their end customers are veried#int. The
Octane Additives business, although still profiegli$ characterized by substantial declining demand

On June 23, 2008 the Company announced a furtteamslining of its business into a unified, sale$-déobal
business focused on rapidly meeting customezsds anywhere in the world. The Company is motoran integrate
regional model running its growth businesses asstmreamlined business operating across three gauged regions —
Americas, EMEA (i.e. Europe, Middle East and Afjicand ASPAC (i.e. Asia-Pacific). The Company waport its
financial performance based on the segments caaauithin this integrated regional model when thee€Operating
Decision Maker reviews the Company'’s operating ltsgurimarily on this basis.

In 2008 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $84.6 milii (13%) of net group sales. In 2007 Shell accalfie11% of net
group sales and in 2006 no single customer accddotenore than 10% of net group sales.
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The Company evaluates the performance of its segnba@sed on operating income. The following tablgyzes sale
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $440.¢ $374.¢ $311.¢
Active Chemicals 138.c 133.¢ 120.¢
Octane Additive: 61.c 94.C 100.4

$640.£ $602.4 $532.1

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $145.¢ $124.7 $106.2
Active Chemicals 12.F 24.¢ 227
Octane Additive: 28.% 48.1 57.¢

$186.4 $197.4 $186.7

Operating income

Fuel Specialtie $ 80.C $ 63.€ $ 45.7
Active Chemicals (5.0 6.1 5.8
Octane Additive: 1.2 19.¢ 34.t
FAS 158/87 pension (charg (2.9 (4.6 —
Corporate cost (24.9) (22.0) (22.1)
Restructuring charg (2.2) (3.0 (4.5
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (3.7 (12.1) (36.7)
Profit on disposals (ne 0.4 — 9.2
Total operating incom $ 43.€ $ 47.¢ $ 31.¢
Identifiable assets at year ent

Fuel Specialtie $247.¢ $216.7

Active Chemicals 104.2 124.2

Octane Additive: 124.¢ 206.¢

Corporate 17.€ 3.4

$494.C $551.1

The Company includes within the corporate coses iti@m the costs of:
* managing the Group as a company with securitiesdlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S

» the President/CE’s office, group finance, group human resourcegarate secretary, legal fees and inve
relations;

* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear.
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» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of otiney
business segments; a

» the corporate share of the information technoleggounting and human resources departm

Sales by geographic area are reported by sourcerévithe transaction originates) and by destingtdrere the final
sale to customers is made). Intercompany salegsriened to recover cost plus an appropriate marker profit and ar:
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements

Identifiable assets are those directly associaiédtive operations of the geographical area.
Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicatioa on the grounds that it would be impracticdbldo so.
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(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales by sourct

United State: $222.¢ $192.¢ $167.1
United Kingdom 383.2 333.¢ 307.¢
Rest of Europt 115.¢ 154.¢ 144 ¢
Other 0.8 0.4 2.1
Sales between are (82.0) (79.0 (89.¢)

$640.£ $602.4 $532.1

Net sales by destinatior

United State: $236.€ $210.¢ $173.%
United Kingdom 22.2 25.1 22.¢
Rest of Europt 240.t 205.1 189.(
Other 141.2 161.: 146.¢

$640.5 $602.< $532.1

Income before income taxe

United State: $ 10.C $ 22.1 $ 38.¢
United Kingdom 7.8 25.7 13.7
Rest of Europt 4.5 13.5 17.4
Other 0.2 (1.9 (1.9
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (3.7 (12.1) (36.7)

$ 18.¢ $ 47.7 $ 31.¢

Long-lived assets at year en

United State: $ 94 $ 8.¢
United Kingdom 33.€ 45.¢
Rest of Europt 10.z 11.4

$ 53t $ 66.2

Identifiable assets at year en

United State: $111.7 $ 82.1
United Kingdom 183.¢ 227.5
Rest of Europt 50.4 89.z
Other 0.€ 0.t
Goodwill 148.2 151.¢

$494.: $551.1

Note 4. Share Based Compensation Plans

The Company has five stock option plans, four ofciwtexpired by their respective terms in May 200&a end of
their 10 year life. The Company submitted new planstockholder approval to replace those thatrexpand
requested approval to reserve common stock foamssiunder each of those plans. Two of these plavide for the
grant of stock options
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to key employees and one provides for the grastawfk options to non-employee directors. The fopiém is a
savings plan which provides for the grant of stopkons to all Company employees provided they cdrtomake
regular savings over a pre-defined period whichtben be used to purchase common stock upon vesitihg
options. Under the new plans vesting periods rdrgye 27 months to 6 years and in all cases stotkpgranted
expire within 10 years of the date of grant. Alhigts are at the sole discretion of the Compens&mnmittee of the
Board of Directors. Grants may be priced at mavikéie or at a premium or discount. The fifth plaojides for the
grant of stock options to key executives on a magchasis provided they use a proportion of themual bonus to
purchase common stock in the Company on the opeketall four of the plans submitted for stockhetcapproval
were approved at the Company’s Annual Meeting otigtolders on May 6, 2008. The aggregate numbsharfes of
common stock reserved for issuance which can baegainder all five plans is 1,790,000.

Under the rules of the plans which expired in MB®& no further stock options will be granted aneawarded share
of common stock previously allocated to these ptamot be used for further grants. Stock optioastgd under the
plans prior to the expiration date of the plan exmiithin 10 years of the date of grant.

On January 1, 2006 the Company adopted FAS 13BRre-Based PaymenEAS 123R requires a company to
estimate the number of forfeitures expected to vaod record expense based upon the number of awapected to
vest. Prior to adoption, the Company accountedidideitures as they occurred as permitted underipus accounting
standards. The cumulative effect of adopting thengle in estimating forfeitures was not materigh®Company’s
financial statements for year ended December 316.20

The fair value of these options is calculated usimgBlack-Scholes model. In some cases certafonpeance related
options are dependent upon external factors sutiheaS8ompany’s share price. The fair value of thgdens is
calculated using a Monte Carlo model.

The following assumptions were used to determieddir value of options calculated using the Bl&wdtioles model:

2008 2007 2006
Dividend yield 0.5% 0.2% 0.4%
Expected life 4 year: 4 year: 4 year:
Volatility 50.1% 48.%% 43.5%
Risk free interest ral 2.7°% 4.47% 4.2€6%
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The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year eridecember 31,
2008:

Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Average
Exercise Fair
Shares Price Value
Options outstanding at January 1, 2! 1,104,89: $ 3.5¢
Granted - at discoun 178,92: $ — $ 14.4¢
— at market valu 66,47: $ 202¢ $ 7381
Exercisec (349,83() $ 5.2¢
Forfeitures (15,260 $ —
Expired (2,719  $ 13.2¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 983,58: $ 3.4
The following table summarizes information abouti@ms outstanding at December 31, 2008:
Number
Weighted Exercisable Weighted
Number Average Weighted and Fully Average Weighted
Outstanding at Remaining Vested at Remaining
Average December 31 Average
Range of Exercise December 31, Life in Exercise Life in Exercise
Price 2008 Years Price 2008 Years Price
$C-$5 746,78: 6.72 $ 0.1« 64,22¢ 3.5¢ $ 1.6¢
$5-$10 140,16: 4.0¢ $ 8.47 90,41( 2.4z $ 7.57
$1C-$15 2,30( 5.3¢ $ 11.5C 2,30( 5.3¢ $ 11.5C
$2(-$25 66,47 9.1% $ 20.2¢ — — $ —
$2E-$30 27,86¢ 8.1¢ $ 27.0¢ — — $ —
983,58 156,93

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stopkions is $0.4 million. Of the 156,936 stock op#s that are
exercisable, 30,460 have performance conditiomelaéid. The total compensation cost for 2008 and 2G& $4.1
million and $3.3 million, respectively. The totalrapensation cost related to nonvested stock optiohget
recognized at December 31, 2008 is $6.2 million thiglcost is expected to be recognized over thighted-average
period of 2.46 years.

We have not modified any stock option awards in&@D07 or 2006. The total intrinsic value of opsaexercised in
2008 and 2007 was $1.3 million and $1.9 milliorspectively. The amount of cash received from ther@se of stock
option awards in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.8anill$4.1 million and $3.0 million, respectively.&Eompany’s
policy is to issue shares from Treasury stock tddrs of stock options who exercise those optibusing 2008 and
2007 the new total fair value of shares vested$ta2 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

The total options vested in 2008 were 264,588 (20828,660, 2006 — 276,584).
69



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

An additional long term incentive plan designedaward selected executives for delivering excepligerformance
was recommended by the Compensation Committee,imgpwkith its advisors, and approved by the Board of
Directors. Under this plan a discretionary bonuls lvd payable to eligible executives if the Innosghare
performance out-performs that of competitors, aasueed by the Russell 2000 Index, by a minimum08t bver the
three years from January 2008 to December 2010afrtoaint of bonus which can be earned will be @ash amount
for each one percentage point of petformance. The maximum bonus under this plaf1&million in respect of tr
current participants, will be payable for an petformance versus the Russell 2000 Index of 30&ddhus is payab
under this plan if the Innospec share price do¢®ubperform the Russell 2000 Index by more th@¥ bver the
three year period. The fair value of these liapitiashsettled stock appreciation rights is calculate@ auarterly bas
using a Monte Carlo model. A corresponding compmsa&harge and liability of $0.1 million was recored in
2008.

The following assumptions were used in the Montddaodel:

200€ 2007 200€
Dividend yield 1.7% 0.2% 0.4%
Volatility 80.2% 48.%% 43.5%
Risk free interest ral 1.0(% 4.47% 4.26%

Note 5. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighttzdge number of common shares outstanding dunagériod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringpkdod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Numerator (in millions):

Net income available to common stockholc $ 12 $ 29.t $ 114
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,59t 23,92( 24,14

Dilutive effect of stock options and awat 79¢€ 91¢ 1,19¢

Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,39 24,83¢ 25,33¢
Net income per share, basic

Net income available to common sha $ 0.5: $ 1.2t $ 0.47
Net income per share, diluted

Net income available to common sha $ 051 $ 1.1¢ $ 0.4t

In 2008, 2007 and 2006 the average number of @ntive options excluded from the calculation oludéd earnings
per share were 98,880, 17,729 and 4,125, resphctive
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Note 6. Pension Plans

The Company’s principal pension arrangement isrdritiutory defined benefit pension plan (“the Plaecdvering a
number of its current and former employees in thédd Kingdom though it does also have other mucaller
pension arrangements in the United Kingdom andseas. The Plan is closed to new entrants withostde
discretion. The Projected Benefit Obligation (“PB@ based on final salary and years of creditedcereduced by
social security benefits according to a plan foamdormal retirement age is 65 but provisions aagerfor early
retirement. The Plar’assets are invested by two investment manageroemtanies in funds holding United Kingd:
and overseas equities, United Kingdom and oveifsezt interest securities, index linked securitigsperty unit
trusts and cash or cash equivalents.

The Company is contributing amounts to the Placotcer service costs to date. Employee and emplmy@ributions
from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2007 were aab8w22.6%, respectively, of pensionable pay. Franudry 1,
2007, employee and employer contributions weréataind 29%, respectively. In addition, since Marb@?2, the
Company has been contributing).® million per calendar year in accordance wiftDg/ear deficit recovery plan. Frc
January 1, 2008, employee and employer contribsitiemained at 7% and 29% though employee contoibsitivere
paid by the employer through a salary sacrificaragement. The estimated level of Company contobstinto the
Plan for 2009 is $5.8 million.

A full tri-annual actuarial valuation of the Plamsvperformed as at December 31, 2005 and an upedtemed as at
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the results miware reflected in these consolidated finandetesnents. At
December 31, 2008 the underlying plan asset valdeP80 were $557.4 million and $571.2 million, resjvely,
resulting in a deficit of $13.8 million. A full tdnnual actuarial valuation of the Plan as at Ddmar31, 2008 will be
performed in 2009. The results of this valuatiofi e reflected in the consolidated financial sta¢ats as at
December 31, 2009.

Effective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adopteiprovisions of FAS 15&mployers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pl. FAS 158 requires that the funded status of ddfimenefit
postretirement plans be recognized on the Compamyisolidated balance sheets, and certain changles funded
status be reflected in comprehensive income. FASal$o requires the measurement date of the Fiamied status
to be the same as the Company’s fiscal year-ertdioAgh the measurement date provision was notnedjto be
adopted until fiscal year 2008 the Company earlypaed this provision for fiscal year 2006. The efffef applying
FAS 158 was to record a total reduction to equitgpigh recognition in other comprehensive loss9at.@ million on
an after-tax basis.

The Company had previously used a measuremenoti@tetober 5. Accordingly, accounting and disclestar the
Plan had been as at and for the 12 months enditap@xcs. In
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accordance with FAS 158 the net pension chargd &f &illion for the transition period of three mbstto
December 31, 2006 has been included in the tadaicteon to equity of $97.0 million.

12 months tc

12 months tc

3 months to 12 months tc
December 3. December 3. December 3.
October 5
(in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2006
Plan net pension charg:
Service cos $ 5.3 $ 5.4 $ 1.3 $ 5.C
Interest cost on PB 45.7 45.7 10.5 39.7%
Expected return on plan ass (48.7) (48.5) (11.2) (44.7)
Amortization of net actuarial
losses — 2.C 0.¢ —
$ 2.2 $ 4.€ $ 1.5 $ —
Plan assumptions
Discount rate 6.5(% 5.8(% 5.1(% 5.0(%
Rate of increase in compensat
levels 3.7%% 3.95% 3.55% 3.55%
Rate of return on plan ass~
overall 6.2(% 5.45% 5.25% 5.3(%
Rate of return on plan assets —
equity securitie! 7.8(% 7.5(% 7.6(% 8.5(%
Rate of return on plan ass+~
debt securitie 5.1(% 4.6(% 4.6(% 4.6(%
Plan asset allocation b
category:
Equity securitie: 22% 2% 32% 29%
Debt securitie: 76% 71% 67% 7C%
Other 2% — 1% 1%
100% 100% 100% 100%

The discount rate used represents the annualieédl g medium and longer term AA rated corporatedsdn the
United Kingdom and has been determined by referamtiee iBoxx corporate bond index published beinational
Index Company. The rate of increase in compenséils assumes that real salary growth in Innogpkbe
restricted to 0.75% above an assumed level of pnitaion of 3.0%. A 0.25% change in either theatiunt rate
assumption, or level of price inflation assumptimould change the PBO by approximately $19 milkorl the net
pension charge for 2009 by approximately $1.4 omilli

The current investment strategy of the Plan ishtaio an asset allocation of 70% in favor of detmusities and 30%
equity securities in order to achieve a more ptabie return on assets.
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The projected net pension charge for the year gridacember 31, 2009 is as follows:

(in millions)

Service cos $ 3L
Interest cost on PB! 35.¢
Expected return on plan ass (33.5)

$ 5.¢

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service as appropriate, are expectée tnade:

(in millions)

2009 $ 36.5
2010 $ 37.7
2011 $ 38.¢
2012 $ 40.
2013 $ 41.1
2014-2018 $224.¢

Company contributions to defined contribution sceerduring 2008 were $2.8 million (2007 — $3.0 roid).
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetaarellows:

12 months tc

12 months tc

December 3: December 3
(in millions) 2008 2007
Change in PB(
Opening balanc $ 854.: $ 897.¢
Interest cos 457 457
Service cos 5.2 5.4
Contributions by participan — 1.C
Benefits paic (46.1) (51.1)
Actuarial (gains)/losse (66.9) (58.5)
Exchange effec (221.%) 13.¢
Closing balanc: 571.2 854.:
Fair value of plan asse
Opening balanc 889.1 875.¢
Actual benefits pai (46.7) (51.))
Actual contributions by employzt 7.5 7.€
Actual contributions by participan — 1.C
Actual return on asse (74.0) 43.]
Exchange effec (219.0) 13.1
Closing balanct 557.¢ 889.1]
Plan assets excess/(deficit) over P (13.¢) 34.¢
Unrecognized net los 124. 83.t
Amortization of net actuarial loss — (2.0
Amount recognized in other comprehensive (124.9) (81.5)
Pension asset/(liability $ (13.9) $ 34.¢

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $&85.9 million and $826.3 million at December 3208 and

2007, respectively.

Note 7. Income Taxes

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Irgttion No 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and nreasent attribute for the financial statement redtgm

and measurement of a tax position taken or expéotbd taken in a tax return.



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

On adoption of FIN 48 the Company recognized are@se in its liability for unrecognized tax beretf $3.1 millior
which was accounted for as an adjustment to opeweitagned earnings; and reclassifications of $2dillon from
other liabilities, $3.8 million from deferred incentaxes and $7.8 million from accrued income take®ll-forward
of unrecognized tax benefits and associated acentiexkst and penalties is as follows:

Interest and Unrecognizec

(in millions) penalties tax benefits Total

Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 2.2 $ 33.4 $ 35.7
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc — 1.5 1.t
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 1.4 1.C 24
Exchange effec 0.1 1.7 1.€
Settlement: — (1.9 (1.9
Closing balance at December 31, 2I 3.8 36.2 40.C
Current 2.7 (20.9) (12.¢)
Non-current $ 2.1 $ 25.2 $27.4
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 3.8 $ 36.2 $40.C
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc — 2.2 2.2
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.7 11.€ 12.5
Reductions for tax positions of prior peric — (9.5) (9.5)
Exchange effec (0.5 (5.7 (6.2
Settlement: (0.5 (3.5 4.0
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 3.t 31.c 34.¢
Current .7 (7.5 (9.2
Non-current $ 1.8 $ 23.€ $ 25.€

All of the $34.8 million of unrecognized tax bengfivould impact our effective tax rate if recogmuize

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedaiath uncertain tax positions as part of incdeees in our
consolidated statements of income.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, aadious state and
foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2008, @mmpany’s subsidiaries in France, Germany andJthited
Kingdom are subject to tax authority investigatiomns their respective transfer pricing policiefieTCompany does
not anticipate that adjustments arising out oféhasestigations would result in a material chatwgigs financial
position as at December 31, 2008.
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The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain opexamination by the IRS for years 1998 onwardstdubke net
operating losses in the period 1998 to 2002, alhawo examination is currently underway. The Congfgan
subsidiaries in other major tax jurisdictions ape to examination including France (2005 onwar@gymany (2002

onwards), Switzerland (2007 onwards) and the Urfiegjdom (2002 onwards). We are currently undemn@ration
in various foreign jurisdictions.

The sources of income before income taxes werellasve:

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Domestic (U.S. $10.C $22.2 $20.2
Foreign 8.8 25.t 11.€

$18.¢ $47.7 $31.€

The components of income tax charges are summaaizéallows:

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Current:

Federa $5.€ $16.¢ $ 5.¢

Foreign 1.4 7.7 15.5
$7.C $24.¢ $21.4

Deferred:

Federa $4.E5 $(6.4) $ 0.t

Foreign (5.2 — (1.5

(0.7) (6.4) (1.0
$6.2  $182  $20.

Cash payments/(receipts) for income taxes weres®dlion, $22.7 million and $(0.7) million during008, 2007 and
2006, respectively.
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéalnbe

2008 2007 2006

Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusio 47.€ 5.€ —
Impairment of Octane Additives business good 7.1 8.€ 40.4
Foreign tax credi (21.9) (73.9) (29.5)
FAS 158/87 pension char: (18.2) (1.0 (6.2
Foreign tax rate differenti (15.2) (4.6 (5.0
Unrecognized net operating los: (10.0 (2.2 (31.¢)
Permanent tax adjustmet (8.9 9.8 7.2
Amortization (4.2) — (0.9
Tax (credit)/charge from previous yei 22.C (14.€) 4.2
Dividend inclusior — 80.C 47.1
Other items and adjustments (r (0.9) (4.9 2.€

33.5% 38.2% 64.2%

Significant factors affecting the variation to statutory rate include the use of tax losses facwho deferred tax
asset was recognized and foreign income inclustbmiforeign tax credits. The $3.7 million chaigeespect of the
impairment of Octane Additives business goodwili ha cash or taxation impact and represents agfufdictor in the
variation from the U.S. federal statutory rate. Tii& of taxable profits generated in the differgabgraphical
localities in which the Group operates had a pasitnpact on the effective tax rate in 2008 pdytiaffset by foreign
income inclusions.
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Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesazéollows:

(in millions) 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets
Excess of tax over book basis in property, pladt@uipmen $ 2.¢ $ 3.6
Net operating loss carry forwar 2.€ 3.€
Pension liability 4.1 —
Goodwill amortizatior — 2.€
Foreign tax credit 5.4 6.5
Other 10.C 4.2
25.C 21.C
Valuation allowanct (7.3 (8.9
Total deferred tax asse 17.7 12.2

Deferred tax liabilities:

Pension asst — (9.7)
Intangible assel (5.2 (5.9
Other (1.9 (4.0
Goodwill amortizatior (3.9 —
(10.5) (19.6)
Total net deferred asset/(liabilit $ 7.2 $ (7.4

Details of the deferred tax asset valuation allaseasre as follows:

(in millions) 2008 2007
At January 1 $(8.9) $(1.C)
Change in foreign tax credi 1.1 (6.5)
Change in net operating loss carry forwe 0.4 1.3
At December 3: $(7.3) $(8.8)

As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2008, the Gongoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceeiquired for $0.7 million (2007 — $1.3 million) i$ net operating
loss carry forwards and that a full valuation aldmee is required against its foreign tax creditsyd@rwards. The net
operating loss carry forwards arose in 2008 ane\generated in Germany as a result of losses iyethie It is
expected that sufficient taxable profits will bengeated against which these net operating losyg tamvards can be
relieved and there is no time limitation to usesthivsses. Should it be determined in the futwuagithis no longer
more likely than not that these assets will beizedlan additional valuation allowance would beurezg and the
Company’s operating results would be adverselycégteduring the period in which such a determimatiould be
made.
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The Company has not made provision for deferredtaMnremitted earnings from overseas subsidiandste
grounds that they will not be remitted as theyrarpiired in the entities concerned or will continade used to fund
further investment into other territories. The amioef unremitted earnings at December 31, 2008280F was
approximately $691 million and $805 million, resfreely. Any determination of the potential amoufitarecognize:
deferred taxes is not practicable due to the coxitpge associated with its hypothetical calculation

Note 8. Goodwill
Goodwill comprises the following
Fuel
Specialtie:

(in millions)
Gross cos- at January 1, 20C $ 117.
Exchange effec 0.1
Impairment —
Gross cos- at December 31, 20( 117.c
Accumulated amortizatio— at January 1 and December

2007 (8.3
Net book amour- at December 31, 20( $ 109.(
Gross cos— at January 1, 20C 117.
Exchange effec 0.1
Impairment —
Gross cos- at December 31, 20( 117.¢
Accumulated amortizatio— at January 1 and December

2008 (8.3
Net book amour- at December 31, 20( $ 109.1

Active
Chemicals

$ 304

30.4

(0.3)
$ 30.1

30.4

30.4

0.9
$ 30.1

Octane
Additives
Total

$ 314.: $ 461.¢
— 0.1
(12.1) (12.7)
302.2 449.¢
(289.5) (298.))
$ 12.3 $ 151.¢
302.2 449 .¢
— 0.1
(3.7) (3.7)
298.t 446.:
(289.5) (298.])
$ 9.C $ 148.2

The Companys reporting units are generally consistent withdperating segments underlying the segments ideoh

in Note 3.

The Company adopted FAS 14z¢oodwill and Other Intangible Assetsffective January 1, 2002. This requires that
goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life shoutdlonger be amortized, but subject to an annuahimpent review,
or between years if events occur or circumstanbasge which suggest that an impairment may havercaxt.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatsdgall as of
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair value of the reporting unitdartying the
segments is estimated using an after tax cashrfletihodology based on management’s best estimatieatdime. At
December 31, 2008 we had $139.2 million of goodkeilhting to our Fuel Specialties and Active Cheatsic
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businesses. At this date we performed annual immgait reviews and concluded that there has beempaiiment of
goodwill in respect of those reporting segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octaneditt/es market globally, as the Company makes s#l€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining salesa@mdesponding cash flows that can be derived fizenQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydine’alue of the Octane Additives reporting usiteduced. As a
result the Company determined that quarterly inmpant reviews be performed from January 1, 2004azryd
impairment charge arising be recognized in theveglequarter. As a result of the Octane Additivepairment
reviews performed during 2008, 2007 and 2006 inmpait charges of $3.7 million, $12.1 million and $36illion,
respectively, were recognized. These charges areash in nature and have no impact on taxatioarel'ts $9.0
million of goodwill remaining at December 31, 20@8ich relates to the Octane Additives businesseihe
guantum and predictability of the remaining futaash flows from the Octane Additives business tbem@any
expects goodwill impairment charges to be recoghiaghe income statement on an approximate stirdiigg basis to
December 31, 2012. Effective October 1, 2008 then@y extended its estimate for the future liféghef Octane
Additives business from December 31, 2010 to Deezr8h, 2012.

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandhljuarterly impairment reviews are reasonablethal they are
judgmental, and that variations in any of the agstions may result in materially different calcutats of impairmen
charges, if any. At December 31, 2008, the surhefair values of our reporting units was in exagsthe Company
market capitalization (based upon our stock pridbe@same date) due primarily to an estimatedrobptemium. The
control premium reflects the fact that managemastdccess to information, such as future projestiand the power
to make investment, financing and resource allooadiecisions. Management do not believe that artlgdugoodwill
impairment charges are required to be recognizedidition to those already recognized in respeth®fOctane
Additives reporting unit.
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Note 9. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2008 2007
Gross cos
— Ethyl $ 22.1 $ 28.4
— Veritel 60.€ 60.€
— Technology 7.1 7.1
— Customer relationshig 16.C 16.C
— Patents 2.6 2.6
— Other e 0.3
109.( 115.%

Accumulated amortizatio

— Ethyl (8.9 (4.2
— Veritel (60.€) (60.€)
— Technology (3.2 (2.5
— Customer relationshig (6.€) (5.0
— Patents (1.1 (0.9
— Other 0.3 (0.2
(80.7) (73.9)

$ 28.c $41.¢

Ethyl

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recogniethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of Eikbtrggoing their
entitlement effective April 1, 2007 to a sharelwd future income stream under the sales and magkatjreements
(“TMAs") to market and sell tetra ethyl lead (“TEL"In 2008 contract provisions no longer deemedssary of $6.3
million were offset against the intangible asséite TMAS covered the sale of TEL for use in autom@gasoline and
aviation gasoline which we disclose within our @etadditives business segment and our Fuel Spesidltisiness
segment, respectively. We allocated the individaahponents of the intangible asset attributablE&b for use in
automotive gasoline and aviation gasoline by refegdo the forecast future income streams and @atedaash flows
from those markets which Ethyl would have sharedNmresidual value was attributed to the intareyddset.
Accordingly, commencing April 1, 2007, the amouittibuted to the Octane Additives business segmeaistbeing
amortized straight-line to December 31, 2010 aedatinount attributed to the Fuel Specialties busisegment is
being amortized straight-line to December 31, 2E&fiective October 1, 2008 the Company extendedstsnate for
the future life of the Octane Additives businessrfrDecember 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012 andftinere
prospectively adjusted the amortization periodtii@r amount attributed to the Octane Additives bessrsegment. An
amortization charge of $4.7 million was recognize@008 (2007 — $4.2 million).
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Veritel

An intangible asset of $60.6 million was recogniae@001, and amortized straight-line to Decemider2007, in
relation to amounts payable to Veritel ChemicalsBMour Swiss subsidiary pursuant to a marketirrgemgent
effective July 1, 2001. The asset was fully amedias at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2@08. N
amortization was recognized in 2008 (2007 — $10lGom).

Technology

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% ohbspec Fuel Specialties LLC (previously known ateOStarreol
LLC) on July 8, 2004, the Company recognized aangible asset of $2.3 million in respect of varitehnological
approvals the business has received from certditangiand civilian authorities. The approvals asta barrier to ent
to any potential competitor in the market who wowidh to supply these products.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recogniaedespect of a number of specialized manufactupigesses
carried out by Innospec Widnes Limited (previougipwn as Aroma Fine Chemicals Limited) followingth
acquisition of that entity in August 2004.

Both of these assets have an expected life oféarnsyand will be amortized on a straight-line baser this period.
No residual value is anticipate

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtped an
intangible asset totaling $7.1 million, $4.2 milliof which was in relation to customer lists acgdirThis asset has an
expected life of thirteen years and will be amedion a straight-line basis over this period. Nsidwal value is
anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in résygdmoth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (pregiyg known as
Octel Starreon LLC) ($9.0 million), and Innospecdies Limited (previously known as Aroma Fine Cheisic
Limited) ($2.8 million) acquisitions. These relabeongoing customer relationships. These have paa&d life of ten
years and will be amortized on a straight-line $asier that period. No residual value is anticigate

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtped an
intangible asset of $2.9 million in respect of pégeand trademarks. These have an expected li@nagfears and will
be amortized on a straight-line basis over thabger

Other
The remaining balance relates chiefly to softwargtcwhich are amortized over 3 years.
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Intangible asset amortization expense was $7.4omjl$16.9 million and $12.7 million in 2008, 208iid 2006,
respectively.
Future amortization expense is estimated to bei®lion per annum for the four years to 2012.
Note 10. Deferred Finance Costs

The Company entered into a three and one halffyreance facility on December 13, 2005. On Febru&r2009 we
entered into a new thraeear finance facility. This new finance facilityplaced the previous finance facility which \
in place at December 31, 2008 (see Note 13).

In 2008 and 2006, $0.6 million and $0.5 millionrefinancing costs were capitalized, respectivehese will be
amortized over the expected life of the relevamarice facility using the effective interest method.

(in millions) 2008 2007
Gross cos $3.1 $2.€
Accumulated amortizatio (2.€) (2.2)
Exchange effec — (0.2

$0.E $0.2

Amortization expense was $0.5 million, $1.1 milliand $1.1 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respetyivThe
charge is included in interest expense (see Note 2)

Note 11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the ¥ahg:

(in millions) 2008 2007
Land $ 6.8 $ 8.2
Buildings 5.C 5.C
Equipment 97.5 100.:
Work in progres: 4.1 5.8
113.2 119.4
Less accumulated depreciati (59.7) (53.2)
$ 53k $ 66.2

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decan3lie 2008 and 2007 no amounts are in respectsetabeld und:
capital leases.

Depreciation charges were $15.1 million, $13.3ionlland $13.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, retipely.
The estimated additional cost to complete workrigpess is $1.4 million (2007 — $1.6 million).
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Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal sites giving rise to environmentahesliation liabilities are the former Octane Addsvmanufacturing
sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and BiebhashreGermany, together with the Ellesmere Po# sitthe United
Kingdom, which is the last ongoing manufactureTBL. The liability for estimated closure costs nhbspec’s
Octane Additives manufacturing facilities incluadmsts for personnel reductions (severance), decomddion and
environmental remediation activities (remediatiaten demand for TEL diminishes. Severance provssiave also
been made in relation to the Fuel Specialties hadictive Chemicals businesses.

Movements in the provisions are summarized asvaio

Other
Severanc Restructuring Remediatior

(in millions) Total

Total at January 1, 20( $ 3.E& $ 0.2 $ 23.7 $27.¢
Charge for the perio 0.t 2.5 1.2 4.2
Expenditure (2.0) (2.2) 2.7 (5.9
Exchange effec 0.1 — 0.t 0.€
Total at December 31, 20! 2.4 0.€ 23.€ 26.¢
Due within one yea (1.9 (0.9 (2.2 (4.4
Balance at December 31, 2C $ O0F $ 2 $ 21.€ $22.¢
Total at January 1, 20( $ 24 $ 0.€ $ 23.¢ $26.¢
Charge for the perio 0.€ 1.2 2.8 4.C
Expenditure (1.€) (1.7) (1.6 (4.9
Exchange effec (0.7) 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total at December 31, 20! 1.€ 0.2 25.1 26.€
Due within one yea (1.5) — (2.6 4.2
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $ 22.5 $22.¢

Amounts due within one year refer to provisions mehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pé#ine balance
sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedimctme statement as restructuring costs along atitar
restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recedriiz cost of goods sold.

Severance

A charge of $0.9 million was recognized in resp#a reduction in EMEA ($0.7 million) and Americgk0.2 million)
headcount.
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Other restructuring

The $1.2 million charge relates to United Kingddte slearance ($0.6 million), U.S. site clearare@.8 million) and
relocation of our European Headquarters to thesEllre Port site ($0.3 million).

Remediation

Total costs for remediation are evaluated on alaednasis to take account of expenditure incurretita amend the
scope of future activities in the light of findinffem projects carried out. A detailed review of #xpected future
costs of decontamination and remediation at thesElere Port site was concluded in December 20Grd3ults wer
summarized in a discounted cash flow model andekbelts are reflected herein.

Remediation expenditure against provisions was $illéon, $1.7 million and $1.3 million in 2008, 2@, and 2006,
respectively.

The remediation provision represents the fair valugne Company’s liability recognized under FAS31Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligatio. The accretion expense recognized under FAS 12808 was $2.3 million. This
charge was increased in 2008 by $0.5 million ipees of an increase in the scope and cost of futctigities to be
performed in the light of findings from projectsgad out.

The Company records environmental liabilities wiiegy are probable and costs can be estimated radalgoihe
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplgawth
environmental legislation in the relevant countriise Company views the costs of vacating our riaited
Kingdom site as a contingent liability because ¢hiemo present intention to exit the site. The Gany has further
determined that, due to the uncertain produclif€EL, particularly in the market for aviation gdlsere exists such
uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flowd thia not possible to estimate these flows sidfitly reliably to
recognize a provision.

Note 13. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2008 2007
Senior term loal $ 55.C $75.C
Revolving credi 18.C 6.C
73.C 81.C
Less current portio (73.0 (20.0)
$ — $61.C

On December 13, 2005 the Company entered intcaadim facility with a syndicate of banks for a tdoan of $100
million, repayable over three and one half yeans, r@volving credit
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facility of $100 million. Of this term loan $10 rfidn, $15 million and $20 million was repaid onyall,

2006, January 31, 2007, and January 31, 2008, atsplg. A final repayment of $55 million was dua dune 12,
2009. The revolving credit facility was due to expon June 12, 2009 when the finance facility waes td expire. As
of December 31, 2008, the Company had $73.0 mibioskebt outstanding under this finance facilitglaras in
compliance with all financial covenants thereineTacility was secured by a number of fixed andtilog charges
over certain assets of the Company and its subsdial he weighted average rate of interest ongwongs was 5.2%
at December 31, 2008 and 5.6% at December 31, 2007.

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyre@nce facility which provides for borrowings g of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 millioma revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. The term loanpsyable as follow
$10 million is due on February 5, 2010; $15 millimm February 7, 2011; and $25 million on Februgr2@.2. This
new finance facility replaced the previous finafmality which was in place at December 31, 2008.

The Company’s new finance facility contains resiree clauses which may constrain our activities fmat our
operational and financial flexibility. The new fhiyi obliges the lenders to comply with a requestitilization of
finance unless there is an event of default oudistan Events of default are defined in the finafas®lity and include
material adverse change to our business, propesssts, financial condition or results of operai The new facilit
contains a number of restrictions that limit oulligh amongst other things, and subject to certamted exceptions,
to incur additional indebtedness, pledge our assetecurity, guarantee obligations of third paytieake investments,
undergo a merger or consolidation, dispose of assetnaterially change our line of business.

In addition, the new facility also contains termisiet, if breached, would result in the loan becaymepayable on
demand. It requires, among other matters, commiavith two financial covenant ratios. These ratics (1) the ratio
of net debt to EBITDA and (2) the ratio of net metst to EBITDA. EBITDA is a non U.S. GAAP measufdiguidity
defined in the finance facility.

Payments of interest on long-term debt were $3IBomj $6.4 million and $9.3 million in 2008, 20@nd 2006,
respectively.

The net cash outflow in respect of refinancing segis $0.4 million and $0.5 million in 2008 and @0fespectively.

No assets held under capital leases were capifatizeng 2008 (200— $nil). No capital repayments were made
during 2008 (2007 — $0.1 million).

86



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)
Note 14. Deferred Income

Movements in deferred income are summarized asvwsli

(in millions) 2008 2007
Deferred incom $0.¢ $0.¢
Less: current portio (0.2) (0.2)

$ 0.6 $ 0.8

Deferred income relates to $0.8 million of postudsiion government grants received by Innospeamiae@mbH and
$0.1 million of government grants and advance tgraggments received by Innospec Widnes Limited\jotesly
known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Limited).

Note 15.  Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock
(number of shares in thousands 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
At January 1 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 5771 5,74¢ 4,90«
Exercise of option — — — (354) (78€) (40%)
Stock purchase — — — 53< 814 1,25(
At December 3: 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 595¢ 5,777 5,74¢

At December 31, 2008, the Company had authorizethwan stock of 40,000,000 shares (December 31, 2007
40,000,000). Issued shares at December 31, 2008,289¢554,500 (December 31, 2007 — 29,554,500) dlirady
treasury stock of 5,956,384 shares (December 3§ 2®%,777,417).

Note 16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2008 the Company partiallyed FAS 157Fair Value Measurements respect of our pensic
plan assets and derivative instruments and thisibadaterial impact on the Company’s financialestants. The fair
values of our pension plan assets and derivatsteuments are valued based on quoted prices alaitabctive
markets for identical assets or liabilities (leteheasurement) and have not changed on adoptieA®fl57. FAS
157 defines fair value, establishes a frameworkrfeasuring fair value and expands disclosures dboutalue
measurements. FAS 157 permits companies that feaready issued either interim or annual finalsiatements
reflecting its adoption to delay the effective atimp date in respect of non-financial assets andfimancial liabilities
except for items that are recognized or discloséddiavalue in the financial statements on a raogrbasis (at least
annually), to fiscal years beginning after Novemb®gr2008, and interim periods within those fisgedrs for items
within the scope of FAS 157. Non-financial asseis aon-financial liabilities would include all assend liabilities
other than those meeting the definition din@ncial assebr financial liability as defined in FAS 159. The
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non-recurring, non-financial assets and liabilifi@swhich FAS 157 has been deferred for adoptipthle Company
are property, plant and equipment, goodwill, inthlegassets and plant closure provisions. The Cosngdaes not
believe that the adoption of FAS 157 for non-reiagrrnon-financial assets and liabilities will haavenaterial impact
on its financial statements.

As defined in FAS 157, fair value is the price thaiuld be received to sell an asset or paid tosteara liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants@imeasurement date (exit price). As permitteceur@dS 157, the
Company utilizes a mid-market pricing conventionvaluing the majority of its assets and liabiktimeasured and
reported at fair value. The Company utilizes madada or assumptions that market participants wosédin pricing
the asset or liability, including assumptions aligk and the risks inherent in the inputs to thkigtion technique.
These inputs can be readily observable, markeblborated or generally unobservable. The Compamyguiiy
applies the market approach for recurring fair galueasurements and endeavors to utilize the basalble
information. Accordingly, the Company utilizes vation techniques that maximize the use of obseeviaipluts and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The Comjmable to classify fair value balances basethen
observability of those inputs. FAS 157 establishésir value hierarchy that prioritizes the inpused to measure fair
value. The hierarchy gives the highest priorityit@adjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or
liabilities (level 1 measurement) and the lowesbnitly to unobservable inputs (level 3 measuremekd)required by
FAS 157, financial assets and liabilities are dfeegkin their entirety based on the lowest levieinput that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Canyfs assessment of the significance of a particufautito the fai
value measurement requires judgment and may dffecataluation of fair value assets and liabiligesl their
placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FA&The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finel
Liabilities . FAS 159 expands the scope of what entities may e fair value by offering an irrevocable optittn
record many types of financial assets and liabgitt fair value. The Company chose not to impleries option and
accordingly the adoption of FAS 159 had no matemglact on the Company’s financial statements.
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The following table presents the carrying amourt fair values of the Company’s financial instrunseat
December 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Carrying Carrying Fair
Fair Value

(in millions) Amount Value Amount
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivale $ 13.¢ $13.¢ $ 24.: $24.<
Long-term debt (including currel

portion) 73.C 73.C 81.C 81.C
Derivatives (all level 1

measurement):
Interest rate swaf (0.7) (0.7) (0.5 (0.5
Foreign exchange contrac (12.9) (12.9) (0.9 (0.9
Commodity swap. $ (1.9 $ (1.9 $ (0.5 $(0.5)

The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivaleniBhe carrying amount approximates fair value becafisee short-term maturities of such
instruments.

Lonc-term debt:The carrying amount of long-term borrowings at &ake interest rates approximates fair value.

Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives that relates to iatirate swaps, foreign exchange contracts and oditym
swaps was estimated based on current settlemess@nd comparable contracts using current assumspti

The cumulative gains and losses on the interestsiaaps and commodity swaps are summarized asviollo

200¢ 2007
(in millions)
Balance at January $(1.0) $04
Change in fair valu (2.0 (1.9
Balance at December . $(2.0) $(1.C)

The interest rate swaps have been designatedashdlow hedge against $50.0 million of underlyilogiting rate del
obligations that stood at $73.0 million at DecemRikr2008. All of the swaps mature on June 12, 2009

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congpeagh flow exposure to raw material price volgtilThey
have been designated as cash flow hedges an& @bthmodity swaps qualify for hedge accountingtas a
December 31, 2008.
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The interest rate and commodity hedges were daterdrtd be effective and consequently the unrealzssiof $2.0
million in 2008 (2007 — $1.0 million loss) has beenorded in other comprehensive income. Ineffectss was
determined to be immaterial in 2008 and 2007 awcdralingly no gain or loss was recognized in eamingeither
period. The Company does not expect any signifipartion of the loss to be reclassified into eagsim the next 12
months.

Foreign exchange contracts primarily relate to i@mot$ entered into to hedge future known transastar hedge
balance sheet net cash positions. The movemettis icarrying and fair values of these contraclarigely due to
changes in exchange rates against the U.S. dolerU.S. dollar has strengthened significantly agfadther major
currencies in the latter part of 2008.

Note 17. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaay dse
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, forexchange exposures and raw material pricing expss

The Company uses interest rate swaps, floors,rcald cap agreements to reduce the impact of ckangeterest
rates on its floating rate debt. The swap agreesramet contracts to exchange floating rate for fixéerest payments
periodically over the life of the agreements withthe exchange of the underlying notional amouht® notional
amounts are used to calculate interest to be paelceived and do not represent the amount of expde credit loss.

The Company has determined to hedge a proportitmeadutstanding floating rate debt obligation.aAs
December 31, 2008 and 2007 the Company had treniolly interest rate instruments in effect (notiocaadounts in
millions):

Notional

Amount Strike
(in millions) Rate Expiry date
Interest sway $ 20.C 4.767"% June 12, 20C

$ 15.C 4.780(% June 12, 20C
$ 15. 4.755(% June 12, 20C

The Company has hedged the price of certain ravenmaét with commodity swaps. As at December 31 824d
2007 the Company had the following summarized coditp@waps:

2008 2007
Carryin Fair Carryin Fair
ying Value ying Value
(in millions) Amount Amount
Notional quantity- 3,101 tonne: $ (1.9 $(1.39)
Notional quantity— 450 tonne: $ (0.5 $(0.5)
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We enter into various foreign currency forward exalpe contracts to minimize currency exposure frapeeted
future cash flows. The contracts have maturity slafeup to 12 months at the date of inception. Ac&@nber 31, 200
the fair value of outstanding foreign currency fard/exchange contracts amounted to a $12.3 mithes (2007 —
$0.4 million loss).

The Company sells a range of Fuel SpecialtiesyAd@ihemicals and Octane Additives to major oilmefies and
chemical companies throughout the world. CredittBrongoing credit evaluation and account moniigprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.

Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgaswearily for office space, motor vehicles and was items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢xgpén be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsesiness.
Rental expense was $2.2 million in 2008, $2.1 onillin 2007 and $1.9 million in 2006. Future comngihts under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2009 $1.E
2010 1.3
2011 1.C
2012 0.€
2013 04
Thereaftel 2.1

$6.9

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibligations are disclosed in Note 12.

Contingencies
Oil for Food Program and related investigations

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamronenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with certaamsactions
conducted by or involving the Company, includinggl conducted by its wholly owned indirect Swidssatiary,
Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”), under the lted Nations Oil for Food Program (“OFFP”) betwekme 1,
1999 and December 31, 2003. As part of its invasbg, the SEC issued a subpoena requiring theuptimh of
certain documents, including documents relatintpése transactions, by the Company and Alcor. Upoeipt of the
SEC'’s notification and initial subpoena, the Compandertook a review of its participation in the [3F&
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On October 10, 2007 and November 1, 2007, the ®f&¢@d two additional subpoenas on the Company.elhes
additional subpoenas required the production otidmmts relating primarily to the OFFP, but alsatiag to
transactions conducted by the Company or its sidygd with state owned or state controlled ergibetween June 1,
1999 and the date of such subpoenas, concernings¢éhef foreign agents and the possibility of extratractual
payments to secure business with foreign goverrahentities in the context of the U.S. Foreign @ptrPractices A«
(“FCPA”) and other laws. In a co-ordinated inveatign, the Company was also notified by the U.Sdenent of
Justice (“DOJ”) regarding the possibility of viatats by the Company or its subsidiaries arisingenrdher laws
stemming from matters covered by the SEC investigats well as certain preliminary inquiries regagdcompliance
with anti-trust laws applicable to the U.S. anctinational tetra-ethyl lead markets. The subjedtswhich the SEC
and DOJ have inquired include areas that concetaiodormer and current executives of the Compargiuding the
current CEO. The Company, and its officers andctiims, are cooperating with the SEC and DOJ ingastins.

On February 19, 2008, the Board of Directors ofGoenpany formed a committee comprised of the chenrof the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Nominating amy&nance Committee, all of whom were independent
directors. (The chairman of the Nominating and Goaace Committee retired as a director of the Comppdfective
May 6, 2008, but his services have been retainaah imdependent capacity as a member of the cosahitExternal
counsel to the Company, reporting to the commhiee on behalf of the committee, conducted andowiitinue to
conduct an investigation into the circumstancesgivise to the SEC and DOJ investigations. Extieraansel report
directly to the committee and assists in conneatidth communications and interactions with the S&@ DOJ.

On March 5, 2008, a letter was received by the Gomrom the DOJ in which a request for a wider anade
detailed range of documents was made. The Compahitsaofficers and directors intend to continuedeoperate
with the SEC and DOJ.

Separately, on May 21, 2008, the United Kingdongs@&is Fraud Office (“SFOotified Innospec Limited, a whol
owned subsidiary of the Company, that it had conuadran investigation into certain contracts invadvBritish
companies under the OFFP. As part of this invetigathe SFO has asked the Company to producenuemis in
respect of the Company’s participation in the OBERveen January 1, 1996 and December 31, 200®wiod
receipt of the SFO’s notice the Company has ingttexternal legal counsel to advise and assiglation to the
investigation and the Company and its directorsdadfiders intend to co-operate with the SFO. Ondbet 16, 2008,
the Company was further notified that the scopefSFO’s investigation would extend to matteratied) to
potential bribery involving overseas commercialragehat are already in the large part the sulgiettte ongoing DO
and SEC investigations.

The outcome of these investigations remains unoaidaghe Company. On the facts available to us ot yet
possible to form any reasonable estimate of thenpiail disgorgement,
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penalties and fine payments, either by referene@ertmge of possible outcomes or by referenceet¢other end of
such a range of outcomes. The amount of any disgoegts, penalties or fines that the Company cadd ¥vould
depend on a number of eventual factors which areumoently known to the Company, including findsnigy relevant
authorities regarding the amount, nature and sobpay improper payments, the amount of any pecymain
involved, the Company’s ability to pay, and thedkwof co-operation provided to government authesitluring the
investigations.

Because of the uncertainties associated with tiraatie outcome of these investigations and thesdosthe Company
of responding and participating in them, no asstegaran be given that the ultimate costs incurredsamctions that
may be imposed will not have a material adversecefin the Company’s results of operations, firermosition
and/or cash flows from operating activities.

At December 31, 2007 we had accrued $3.7 millioregpect of estimated probable future legal andrgihofessional
expenses and provided no additional accruals peof the investigations. As part of our contmgucommitment to
co-operate and comply with the SEC and DOJ invastigs, including the request for documents setrotite DOJ
letter dated March 5, 2008, we accrued a furthe8 $6llion during the quarter ended March 31, 2008:spect of
estimated probable future legal and other professiexpenses. During the quarter ended June 38, #@® Company
provided no additional accruals in respect of thaaéers.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2008 thep@oynaccrued an additional $8.7 million in respdastimated
probable legal and other professional fees andresqse The provision for probable future legal atioprofessional
fees and expenses amounted to $3.4 million at DeeeB1, 2008. These accruals are made on thedfabis
Company’s then current best estimate, working msadtation with the committee of the Board of Dies, external
legal counsel to the Company and its other prodessiadvisors. Should any underlying assumptionsgmcorrect
or should any of the DOJ, SEC and/or the SFO Hiescope of the investigations, then the actustsdocurred by
the Company could differ materially from currentiesites.

The Company continues to keep the amount of suctualcprovisions under review as it has been domguding
through working with the committee of the Board a&xternal legal counsel and other professionalsaisi

Bycosin Disposal

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of @#ban Assets Control Regulations to the Officeasélgn Assets
Control. Given the international scope of its operatidhe,Company is subject to laws of many differensplictions
including laws relating to the imposition of restions on trade and investment with various ersgtiggersons and
countries, some of which laws are conflicting. 002 the Company reviewed, as it does periodicalipects of its
operations in respect of such restrictions, andrdehed to dispose of certain non-core,
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non-U.S. subsidiaries of Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s ndrs. subsidiaries had been engaged in transacimhactivities
involving Cuban persons and entities before theligdopn of the Bycosin Group by the Company ind@001, and
such subsidiaries were continuing to engage in sacisactions and activities at the time of thgaksl of the non-
core Fuel Specialties business and related assBiisviember 2004. On November 15, 2004, Bycosin &&&holly-
owned subsidiary of the Company organized undelative of Sweden (now known as Innospec Sweden A3, t
“Seller”), entered into a Business and Asset Pugelfgreement (the “Agreementijth Pesdo Swedcap Holdings /
(the “Purchaser”), Hakan Bystrém and others astinehaser’s guarantors, and Octel Petroleum Stiesidimited
(now known as Innospec Fuel Specialties LimitedhasSeller’s guarantor, and completed the all-¢estsaction
contemplated thereby (together with related trainsag, the “Transaction”). The Agreement provided Bmongst
other things: (i) the disposal of certain non-ceuel Specialties business and related manufactarnidgother assets of
the Seller; and (ii) the supply and distributionceftain power products to certain geographic megid he net
consideration paid by the Purchaser was approxlyn&ge9 million.

Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&ofeign
Assets Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions actlvities engaged in by certain non-U.S. subsiesaof the
Company. Disclosures, amongst other items, includatthe aggregate monetary value of the trarmactnvolving
Cuban persons and entities conducted by the Conpaag-U.S. subsidiaries since January 1999 wasoappately
$26.6 million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingther Company 1
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Wdealties could
be assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessallipe against the Company on a “performance ofraots basis”,
the applicable regulations provide for penaltiaghie case of civil violations of the Cuban Assetsitrol Regulations
(31 CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?”), of the lesser of $6H)(er violation or the value of the contract. ®idanuary 1999,
non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entert®ddi3 contracts with Cuban entities, each of wicichld be
considered a separate violation of the CACR by OFBEAC may take the position that the CACR showdd b
interpreted or applied in a different manner, po&tlly even to permit the assessment of penaltgskto or greater
than the value of the business conducted with Cpleasons or entities.

The Company has considered the range of possitbdermes and potential penalties payable. In accoedaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beaderfor management’s current best estimate ofatenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hoveryshould the underlying assumptions prove incbrtbe actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tonesé the
amount of any additional loss, if any.
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If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjhwere found not to have complied with the CA@f, Company
believes that it could be subject to fines or ottieit or criminal penalties which could be matéria

Other Legal Matters

We are involved from time to time in claims anddkegroceedings that result from, and are incidemtahe conduct
of our business including product liability clainThere are no other material pending legal procegsdio which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party,farloich any of their property is subject, otherrtt@dinary, routine
litigation incidental to their respective businesse

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Company’s cons@dlatbsidiaries are contingently liable for certatigations of
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guatees of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This included guarardéasn-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Aeaémber 31,
2008, such contingent liabilities amounted to $6ilion.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsrajgnthe Company would be required to perform dtidle
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationander the arrangements. In some cases, the guai@némgements ha
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms gfuhmntees
from securities held of the guaranteed partiestass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous l@ngitsales and purchase commitments in their vabaasess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.

Indemnities and Warranties

In connection with the disposal of Octel Waste Mgeraent Limited on June 26, 2003, the Company peal/zrtain
warranties. The Company would be required to perfeiould the contingent liabilities in respectlod tvarranties
become actual and could be required to make maxifoture payments of £3.59 million ($5.2 million)h@re are no
recourse provisions enabling recovery of any an®froim third parties nor are any assets held datechl in respect
of the warranties.
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Note 19. Profit on Disposals, net

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Profit on disposal of surplus U.S. real es $0.4 $— $—
Prepaid disposal cos — — (0.4
Profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdom restiage — — 9.€
$0.4 $— $9.2

The profit on disposal of the surplus U.S. reahiestelates to the sale in May 2008 of the Comafoyimer
manufacturing site in EImwood Park, N.J.. Prepasgalsal costs in 2006 relate to expenditure beingried in
advance of this real estate being marketed anaskspof.

The profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdoralrestate relates to the sale in August 2006 oCitrapany’s
former Fuel Technology Centre in Bletchley and saléuly 2006 of the Company’s former sports andaalub.

Note 20. Other Balance Sheet Information

The Company holds investments that are not coretelilor equity accounted since we do not have aaitmg
financial interest and they are not material, regpely. These investments are held at cost lesgigion for
impairment. The principal affiliate is as follows:

Ownership interest

Ferrous Cory 46.5%

In 2007 the Company sold its 27.5% share of Pottdfmited for $0.1 million generating a profit 0.1 million. In
2006 the Company sold its 20% share of Deurex @@Pb share of Octel Chemay (Pty) Limited, bothrforprofit or
loss.

All of the unconsolidated affiliates are privatélgld companies and as such quoted market pricewaevailable. No
dividends were received during 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Note 21. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncems

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositieAS 142-3 Determination of Useful Life of Intangible Assets
(“FSP FAS 142-3"). FSP FAS 142-3 amends the fadtaasshould be considered in developing the rehewa
extension assumptions used to determine the ugefof a recognized intangible asset under FAS, Gtibdwill and
Other Intangible AssetsFSP FAS 142-3 also requires expanded discloslaied to the determination of intangible
asset useful lives. FSP FAS 142-3 is effectivatierCompany as of January 1, 2009. The Companyrdudselieve
that the adoption of FSP FAS 142-3 will have a miatémpact on its financial statements.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued FAS 1@isclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddhativities. FAS 16.
requires enhanced disclosures surrounding thendséreancial reporting of derivative instrumentsidredging
activities. This statement is effective for the Qamy as of January 1, 2009. The Company does flietb¢hat the
adoption of FAS 161 will have a material impactifinancial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS Id0ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htements — an
amendment of ARB No. 5This statement establishes accounting and regostandards for the noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolisatiba subsidiary. This statement is effectivetfr Company as of
January 1, 2009. The Company does not believahibadoption of FAS 160 will have a material impactits
financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS 14B&siness Combinations — a replacement of FASBrSéateNo. 141
which significantly changes the principles and regents for how the acquirer of a business reaagand measul
in its financial statements the identifiable asseguired, the liabilities assumed, and any nomobimy interest in the
acquiree. The statement also provides guidanaeémgnizing and measuring the goodwill acquirethenbusiness
combination and determines what information toldse to enable users of the financial statementyatuate the
nature and financial effects of the business coatlmn. FAS 141R is effective for the Company begignlanuary 1,
2009, and will change the accounting for businesshkinations on a prospective basis.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this regoetCompany carried out an evaluation under thersigilon and
with the participation of our management, including Chief Executive Officer and the Chief FinahC#icer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the@amy’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (dsdd in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities and Exgph#ct of 1934).

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controts@ocedures, the Company’s Chief Executive Offesed Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Companysslosure controls and procedures were effectsvef
December 31, 2008, in timely making known matdritdrmation relating to the Company and the Comfmny
consolidated subsidiaries required to be disclasélde Company'’s reports filed or submitted undher Exchange Act.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Finanaal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estaby and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial
reporting. The Company’s internal control over finel reporting is a process designed to providsasrable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigaging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal
purposes in accordance with accounting principtagecally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effeetiess to future periods are subject to the riskdatrols may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures
may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehtesCompany’s internal control over financigporting as
of December 31, 2008. In making this assessmentaganent used the criterialimernal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatudrite Treadway Commission (“COSQ”).

Based on the evaluation the Company concludedliea€ompany maintained effective internal contr@rdinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on @&iterihelnternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the
COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectivenesserhaltcontrol over financial reporting as of DecemB1, 2008 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Ukiblegdom (PwC), an independent registered publioanting
firm, as stated in their report that is includedteém 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reportng

The Company is continuously seeking to improveetfieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This results in refinements to procesisemighout the Company. However, there has bearmange in the
Companys internal control over financial reporting durithgg most recent fiscal quarter that has materédfiycted, o
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Caang’s internal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B Other Information

None.

99



Table of Contents

PART IlI
Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information under the heading “Management” setiotihe Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting aicRholders
to be held on May 7, 2009 (“the Proxy Statemerg'incorporated herein by reference.

At its Board Meeting on February 24, 2004, the Camypformally adopted a Code of Ethics. Any stockieolwho
requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporatee@mance Guidelines or any of the Board Committearters may
obtain one by writing to the General Counsel, Ijpeasinc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil SiteadRdllesmere
Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, e-mail investor@innospecom. These documents can also be accessed via the
Company’s website, www.innospecinc.com

Information regarding the composition and the wagki of the Audit Committee are included under tbadings
“Corporate Governance — Committees of the Boafdidctors — Audit Committee” and “Audit Committee@port” in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefgrence.

ltem 11 Executive Compensatior

The information under the heading “Compensatiorcission and Analysis” in the Proxy Statement i®iporated
herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andlanagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information under the heading “Security Owngrsti Certain Beneficial Owners and Managementhia Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Authorized for |1 ssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information contained in the table entitled tifg Compensation Plan Information” under the hegdiEquity
Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement is pa@ted herein by reference.

The current limit for the total amount of sharedakihcan be issued or awarded under the Compamngsshare option
plans is 1,790,000.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information under the headings “Transactiorth &ixecutives, Officers, Directors and Others” &@drtain Other
Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Stataris incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information with respect to fees and services eeldb the Company’s independent registered pubtiounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is contained in theitATmmmittee Report under the heading “Principat&untant
Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement andaporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
[tem 15

@ (1)

2.1

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2

4.€
10.1
10.2

(2)

®3)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Innospecand its subsidiaries and related notes the
together with the report thereon of Pricewaterh@aspers LLP dated February 20, 2009, appear o
pages 52 through 97 of the 2008 Form 10-K to stoldldrs, are incorporated in Item 8.

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omstede the information required to be submitted
has been included in the financial statements calme they are either not applicable or not require
under the Rules of Regulations S-X.

Exhibits

Transfer and Distribution Agreement, dated as afil&4, 1998, between Great Lakes Chem
Corporation “GLCC”) and the Registrant. (.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant. (1
Amended and Restated -laws of the Registrant. (:
Form of Common Stock Certificate. (

Form of Certificate of Designations, Rights andfémences of Series A Junior Participating Prefe
Stock of the Registrant. (.

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 3898 among the Registrant, Octel Developments
and the initial purchasers. (

Purchase Agreement dated as of April 30, 1998 anttoménitial Purchasers, Octel Developments PLC
the Registrant. (4

Share purchase agreement between OBOAdIer Holdingted and The Associated Octel Comp:
Limited relating to the sale and purchase of thele/of the issued share capital of OBOAdler Company
Limited, dated June 1, 1999. {

Share Repurchase Plan between the Company aridakdan Securities Inc. dated February 29, 2008
Innospec Inc. 2004 Non Employee Direc’ Stock Plan. (9
Innospec Inc. 2004 Executive -Investment Plan. (¢
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10.5 Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option,Rlsiamended. (!
10.4 Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan, as ame(@ig
10.5 Innospec Inc. Savings Related Share Option Schasn@nended. (¢

10.€ Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehpany Limited to Philip J Boon. (
10.7 Executive Services agreement, Richard Shone
10.¢ Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. |
10.€ Contract of Employment, Paul Jennings.
10.1¢ Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner.
10.11 Contract of Employment, Andrew Hartley. (1

10.1z Business and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Neverib2004, between Bycosin AB, Hal
Bystrém and others, and Octel Petroleum Specidlireged. (10)

10.1: Supply Agreement, dated November 15, 2004, bet\#gensin AB and Pesdo Swedcap Holdings ,
(10)

10.1¢ Contract of Employment, Paul W. Jennings, datede®eiper 21, 2005. (1:
10.1¢ Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @bstr 11, 2005. (12
10.1¢ Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2B806. (14

10.15 Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option P0&8. (15

10.1¢ Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008.

10.1¢ Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’ Stock Option Plan 2008. (1

10.2( Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008.

10.21 U.S. $150,000,000 three year Facilities AgreematediFebruary 6, 2009 with Lloyds TSB plc
agent, Company term loan facility of $50,000,008 esvolving loan of $100,000,000. (1

12.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Financial Rdfitesl herewith).
14 The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics.
21.1 Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing (filed herewith)
24.1 Powers of Attorney of Directors and Officers of fRegistrant. (4
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31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z
(filed herewith).

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z
(filed herewith).

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoe
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

Notes

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s amendment dated April 21, 1998, t
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Fbdri2B/A previously filed on
April 10, 1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s amendment dated May 4, 1998 1
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Form {4 previously filed or
October 1, 199¢

(5) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on November 12, 199!
(6)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on March 3, 2008

(7)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 26, 2001

(8)  Filed with the Compar’'s Form 1-K on March 28, 200z

(9)  Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 15, 20
(10) Filed with the Compar’s Form -K on November 19, 200:
(11) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 31, 200=

(12) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on September 27, 200
(13) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on October 12, 200!

(14) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 30, 200t

(15) Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 31, 20
(16) Filed with the Compar’s &-K on February 10, 200!
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. /sl Paul W. Jenning
By:
(Registrant PAUL W. JENNINGS
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 20, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities indicated as of February 20, 2009:

/s/ lan P. Cleminson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

lan P. Cleminsol

/s/ Robert E. Bev Chairman and Directc

Dr Robert E. Bev

/s/ Hugh G. C. Aldou Director
Hugh Aldous

/sl Peter H. C. Fearn Director
Peter Fear!

/sl Martin M. Hale Director
Martin M. Hale

/sl James M. C. Puckrid( Director

James Puckridg

/s/ Joachim Roes: Director

Joachim Roese
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Exhibit 12.1
EXHIBIT 12.1—STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF FIN ANCIAL RATIOS

(dollar amounts in millions except per share figurs)

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
1. NET INCOME/(LOSS) AS A PERCENT OF SALES
A Net income/(loss $ 12¢F $ 29.f $ 11.< $(123.7) $ 6.2
B Net sales $ 640. $ 602.£ $ 532.1 $ 564.¢ $ 496.¢
A % of B 2.0% 4.9% 2.1% (21.9% 1.2%
2. EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE ASA PERCENT
C Income taxe: $ 6.3 $ 18 $ 20. $ 4.2 $ 20.1
D Income/(loss) before income tax $ 18.t $ 47.0 $ 31.& $(118.]) $ 32.
C% of C 33.5% 38.2% 64.2% (3.9% 62.£%
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current assel $ 256.¢ $ 256.] $ 305.: $ 239.¢ $ 199.¢
F Current liabilities $ 188.1 $ 160.7 $ 142.¢ $ 140.t $ 169.£
E:F 14 1.€ 2.1 1.7 1.2
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE
G Net income/(loss $ 12¢F $ 29.f $ 11.< $(123.7) $ 6.2
H Basic shares outstandii 23,59t 23,92( 24,14 24,73 24,69(
I Diluted shares outstandit 24,39: 24,83¢ 25,33¢ 24,731 25,97¢
G/H Basic earnings per she $ 0.5¢ $ 1.2t $ 0.47 $ (5.00 $ 0.2t
G/ Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.51 $ 1.1¢ $ 0.4¢ $ (5.00 $ 0.24

Shares in thousands, earnings per share in dollars.



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerland)
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (USA)
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Developments Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K.)

Innospec France SA (France)

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (USA)
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K.)

Innospec International Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Sweden AB (Sweden)

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Valvemaster Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K.)

Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(if)

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B838687/ 333-124139) of Innospec

Inc. of our report dated February 20, 2009 relatmthe financial statements and the effectivenésasternal control over financial reporting,
which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 20, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PAUL W. JENNINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul W. Jennings, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) analre responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) designed such internal control over financigomting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl PauL W. JENNINGS

Paul W. Jennings
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 20, 200



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P.Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) analre responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) designed such internal control over financigomting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl 1ANP. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 20, 200



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Company”) for the period edd®ecember 31, 2008 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelsatof (the “Report”), I, Paul W. Jennings, Prestdnd Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdspted pursuant to 8§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafct of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company

/sl PauL W. JENNINGS

Paul W. Jennings
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 20, 200

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfths part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey 18 U.S. C. 81350 has been provided to the @oypand will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&ammission upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Company”) for the period edd®ecember 31, 2008 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelsatof (the “Report”), I, lan P. Cleminson, ExeeeatVice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IC S8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafct of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company

/s/  1ANP. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 20, 200

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfths part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey 18 U.S. C. 81350 has been provided to the @oypand will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&ammission upon reque



